Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ. 18 (1982), 131-186

Representation Theorems of Cohomology on Weakly 1-Complete Manifolds

By

Kensho TAKEGOSHI*

Contents

Introduction.

Chapter I.	Differential analysis on complex manifolds and functional analysis $\hdots 133$	
	§ 1.1 § 1.2	A complex tensor calculus for Kähler manifolds with boundary133 Identity of weak and strong extensions of $\overline{\partial}$ -operator and its formal adjoint ϑ 149
	§ 1.3	Basic fact from functional analysis and application152
Chapter II.	Cohomology groups on domains with pseudoconvex boundaries $\dots 155$	
	§ 2.1	Definitions
	§2.2	Basic estimates157
	§2.3	Weak finiteness and vanishing theorems162
	§2.4	A stability theorem for the spaces of harmonic forms $\ldots \ldots 167$
Chapter III.	Cohomology groups on weakly 1-complete manifolds172	
	§ 3.1 § 3.2 § 3.3	Definitions and the basic estimate

Introduction

Vanishing, finiteness and harmonic representation of cohomology on complex manifolds are one of the most interesting problems in analytic geometry (for example, see [2], [5], [9], [13], [19], [20], [38], [45]), and here we are concerned especially with cohomology on noncompact complex manifolds. Namely, in this paper, we deal with cohomology groups with coefficients in a locally free sheaf of rank one on domains with pseudoconvex boundaries and weakly 1-complete manifolds. We say

Communicated by S. Nakano, March 18, 1981. Revised July 22, 1981.

^{*} Research Institute for Mathematical Sciences, Kyoto University, Kyoto 606, Japan.

that a complex manifold X is weakly 1-complete if there exists a C^{\sim} exhausting plurisubharmonic function on X. S. Nakano pointed out the importance of the concept in [31] (or [11]) by solving the inverse problem of monoidal transformations and the main point was some vanishing theorem of cohomology groups for positive line bundles (see [32], [33]). Then the theorem was generalized in various aspects (see [1], [12], [37], [40], [41], [42], [43], [44]). Recently, in [34], [35] and [37] T. Ohsawa showed the finiteness and isomorphic theorems of cohomology groups for line bundles on weakly 1-complete manifolds which are positive outside compact subsets. In these articles, the main method was the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator theory without boundary condition, which was originated by Andreotti and Vesentini's works [3], [4] and [5], while in this paper, we want to make use of the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator theory with boundary condition, which was studied by Kohn and Hörmander (for example, see [9], [17], [22], [23], [24], etc.). But of course we have to recreate from these authors because of weak pseudoconvexity of our domain. Hence we present, in Chapter I, some calculation i.e. a complex tensor calculus for Kähler manifolds with boundary. Although it is more or less a routine calculation, it is worth to do so because, in the opinion of the author, the complex tensor calculus is one of the important methods to treat the cohomology groups from differential geometric view point. The result is a simple generalization of a formula for compact complex Kähler manifolds due to K. Kodaira [20] and is more or less known.

The main purpose of this paper is to make Ohsawa's results more exact in the following sense. When we let X be a weakly 1-complete manifold with a C^{∞} -exhausting plurisubharmonic function \emptyset on X, we shall show that for a line bundle B on X which is positive outside a compact subset K of X, the p-th cohomology group $H^p(X_c, \mathcal{O}(B \otimes K_X))$ $(p \ge 1)$ is finite dimensional and represented by the space of harmonic forms which are obtained as the harmonic part of $B \otimes K_X$ -valued differential forms of type (0, p) being smooth up to the boundary ∂X_c (see Theorem 3.9). Here we write $X_c = \{x \in X | \emptyset(x) < c\}$ and $\partial X_c = \{x \in X | \emptyset(x) = c\}$ for some non-critical value c of \emptyset with $c > \sup_{x \in X} \emptyset(x)$ and K_X is the canonical line bundle of X. This seems to be the analogy of the case of compact or q-convex complex manifolds (see [9], [17], [19]). The author expresses his hearty thanks to Professor S. Nakano and Dr. A. Fujiki for their constant encouragement and kind advices. Last he also expresses his thanks to the referee for valuable criticisms.

> Chapter I. Differential Analysis on Complex Manifolds and Functional Analysis

§1.1. A Complex Tensor Calculus for Kähler Manifolds with Boundary

Let M be an *n*-dimensional complex manifold and let X be a relatively compact domain on M with smooth boundary ∂X . In this paper, this means that there exist a neighborhood W of ∂X and a real valued function $\boldsymbol{\emptyset}$ of class C^{∞} on W such that i) $X \cap W = \{x \in W | \boldsymbol{\emptyset}(x) < 0\}$, ii) the gradient of $\boldsymbol{\emptyset}$ does not vanish on ∂X . From now on, we assume that M is provided with a kähler metric ds^2 . Let $\{U_i\}$ be a coordinate cover of M and let (z_i^1, \dots, z_i^n) be local coordinates on U_i . We use the notation $\partial_{i,\alpha} = \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i^{\alpha}}$ and $\partial_{i,\overline{\alpha}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_i^{\alpha}}$. (We sometimes omit i for simplicity.) We set

(1.1)
$$ds^{2} = \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{n} g_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}} dz_{i}^{\alpha} d\bar{z}_{i}^{\beta}$$

The Kähler form is defined by

$$\mathcal{Q} = \sqrt{-1} \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{n} g_{i,\alpha\overline{\beta}} dz_{i}^{\alpha} \wedge d\overline{z}_{i}^{\beta} \,.$$

With respect to this metric, we can define a connection $\{\omega_i\}, \omega_i = (\omega_i, \alpha_i)$ for the holomorphic tangent bundle TM on M:

(1.2)
$$\omega_{i,\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \sum_{\tau=1}^{n} \Gamma_{i,\tau\alpha}^{\ \beta} dz_{i}^{\tau} \quad \text{where} \quad \Gamma_{i,\tau\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \sum_{\sigma=1}^{n} g_{i}^{\ \sigma} \partial_{\tau} g_{i,\alpha\sigma} \,.$$

The Riemann curvature tensor is defined by

(1.3)
$$R_{i,\beta\nu\lambda}^{\ \alpha} = \partial_{\nu}\Gamma_{i,\lambda\beta}^{\ \alpha}$$

and also we set

(1.4)
$$R_{i,\overline{\alpha}\beta^{\mathfrak{p}\lambda}} = \sum_{\mu=1}^{n} g_{i,\mu\overline{\alpha}} R_{i,\beta^{\mathfrak{p}\lambda}}.$$

As for the conjugates of the above, we define

(1.5)
$$\Gamma_{i,\overline{\beta}\overline{\imath}} = \overline{\Gamma_{i,\overline{\beta}\overline{\imath}}}, \quad R_{i,\overline{\beta}\overline{\imath}\overline{\imath}} = \overline{R_{i,\overline{\beta}\overline{\imath}\overline{\imath}}} \text{ and } \quad R_{i,\alpha\overline{\beta}\overline{\imath}\overline{\imath}} = \overline{R_{i,\overline{\alpha}\beta\overline{\imath}\overline{\imath}\overline{\imath}}}.$$

The Ricci curvature is defined by

(1.6)
$$R_{i,p\lambda} = \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} R_{i,\beta p\lambda}.$$

Since ds^2 is a Kähler metric, in the same manner as in [21], p. 109, Theorem 5.1 and p. 117, Proposition 6.2, we have

(1.7)
$$\Gamma_{i,\beta\gamma}^{\alpha} = \Gamma_{i,\gamma\beta}^{\alpha}$$

and

(1.8)
$$R_{i,\bar{\alpha}\beta\nu\lambda} = R_{i,\bar{\alpha}\lambda\nu\beta} = R_{i,\nu\beta\bar{\alpha}\lambda} = R_{i,\nu\lambda\bar{\alpha}\beta}.$$

As in [21], p. 111-112 and p. 118, Proposition 6.4, it is easily verified that

(1.9)
$$\sum_{\lambda=1}^{n} \Gamma_{i,\lambda\alpha}^{\lambda} = \partial_{\alpha} \log g_{i}$$

and

(1.10)
$$R_{i,\nu\lambda} = \partial_{\nu}\partial_{\lambda} \log g_{i} \quad \text{where} \quad g_{i} = \det(g_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}}).$$

Let $C^{\infty}(TM)$ (resp. $C^{\infty}(\overline{TM})$) be the sheaf of germs of the C^{∞} sections of the holomorphic tangent bundle TM (resp. conjugate tangent bundle \overline{TM}) and let $\Gamma(M, C^{\infty}(TM))$ (resp. $\Gamma(M, C^{\infty}(\overline{TM}))$) be the space of global sections of $C^{\infty}(TM)$ (resp. $C^{\infty}(\overline{TM})$).

We define covariant differentiation $\nabla_{\alpha}, \nabla_{\bar{\beta}}$ induced by (2) on $\Gamma(M, C^{\infty}(TM))$ and $\Gamma(M, C^{\infty}(\overline{TM}))$ as follows:

$$\left. \begin{array}{l} \nabla_{i,\lambda} \hat{\xi}_{i}^{\alpha} = \partial_{\lambda} \hat{\xi}_{i}^{\alpha} + \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \Gamma_{i,\lambda\beta} \hat{\xi}_{i}^{\beta} \\ \nabla_{i,\lambda} \hat{\xi}_{i}^{\alpha} = \partial_{\lambda} \hat{\xi}_{i}^{\alpha} \end{array} \right\} \quad \text{for} \quad \hat{\xi} = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \hat{\xi}_{i}^{\alpha} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_{i}^{\alpha}} \right) \in \Gamma(M, C^{\infty}(TM)),$$

(1.11)

$$\left. \begin{array}{l} \nabla_{i,\lambda} \eta_i^{\vec{\alpha}} = \partial_\lambda \eta_i^{\vec{\alpha}} \\ \nabla_{i,\lambda} \eta_i^{\vec{\alpha}} = \partial_\lambda \eta_i^{\vec{\alpha}} + \sum_{\beta=1}^n \Gamma_{i,\overline{\lambda}\overline{\beta}} \eta_i^{\vec{\beta}} \end{array} \right\} \quad \text{for} \quad \eta = \sum_{\beta=1}^n \eta_i^{\vec{\alpha}} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_i^{\alpha}} \right) \in \Gamma(M, C^{\infty}(\overline{TM})).$$

Then we remark that

(1.12)
$$\nabla_{i,\lambda}g_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}} = 0 , \quad \nabla_{i,\lambda}g_{i}^{\bar{\beta}\alpha} = 0 .$$

For any open subset Y of M, let $C^{p,q}(Y)$ be the space of differential forms of type (p,q) and of class C^{∞} on Y and let $C_{\theta}^{p,q}(Y)$ be the space of the forms in $C^{p,q}(Y)$ with compact supports. Let $C^{p,q}(\overline{X})$ be the image of the restriction mapping from $C^{p,q}(M)$ to $C^{p,q}(X)$. We denote the length of the gradient of \emptyset with respect to (1.1) by $|\text{grad } \emptyset|$, then $|\text{grad } \emptyset|^2 = \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{n} g_i^{\beta\alpha} \partial_{\alpha} \emptyset \partial_{\beta} \emptyset$ and, from the hypothesis, we may assume that $|\text{grad } \emptyset| > 0$ on a neighborhood W of ∂X . We define a function fof class C^{∞} on W by

$$f = \mathbf{\Phi} / |\operatorname{grad} \mathbf{\Phi}|$$
 on W.

Then we obtain

i) $f \equiv 0$ on ∂X , (1.13) ii) $df = |\operatorname{grad} \boldsymbol{\varPhi}|^{-1} d\boldsymbol{\varPhi}$ on ∂X , iii) $|\operatorname{grad} f| = 1$ on W.

We separate z_i^{α} into the real and imaginary parts: $z_i = x_i^{2\alpha-1} + \sqrt{-1} x_i^{2\alpha}$ $(\alpha = 1, 2, \dots, n)$ and set $\partial_{i,k} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i^k}$ $(k = 1, 2, \dots, 2n)$. Let dV be the volume element of M with respect to (1, 1). Then we have, by direct calculations,

(1.14)
$$dV = \bigwedge^{n} \mathcal{Q}/n \, ! = 2^{n} g_{i} dx_{i}^{1} \wedge dx_{i}^{2} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx_{i}^{2n} \, .$$

Let dS be the volume element of the real differential manifold ∂X of real dimension 2n-1. Since (1.13) implies that grad f is the outward unit normal on ∂X , we have

$$(1.15) dV = df \wedge dS on \partial X$$

We consider a vector field $\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \psi_i^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i^{\alpha}} + \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \psi_i^{\beta} \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_i^{\beta}}$ on a neighborhood of \overline{X} . Then $\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \nabla_{i,\alpha} \psi_i^{\alpha} + \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \nabla_{i,\overline{\beta}} \psi_i^{\overline{\beta}}$ is called the divergence of the vector field $\widetilde{\psi} = \{\psi^{\alpha}, \psi^{\overline{\beta}}\}$.

Lemma 1.1. We have

(1.16)
$$\int_{X} \left(\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \nabla_{\alpha} \psi^{\alpha} + \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \nabla_{\beta} \psi^{\beta}\right) dV = \int_{\partial X} \left(\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \psi^{\alpha} \partial_{\alpha} f + \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \psi^{\beta} \partial_{\beta} f\right) dS,$$

where $\partial_{\alpha} = \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{i}^{\alpha}}$ and $\partial_{\overline{\alpha}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_{i}^{\alpha}}$ on U_{i} $(\alpha = 1, 2, \dots, n).$

Proof. From (1.13) and (1.15), Green's formula may be written in the following form:

$$\int_{\boldsymbol{x}\cap\boldsymbol{v}_{i}} \partial_{i,k} u \,\overline{\boldsymbol{v}} dV = -\int_{\boldsymbol{x}\cap\boldsymbol{v}_{i}} u \left(\partial_{i,k} + \partial_{i,k} \log g_{i}\right) \,\overline{\boldsymbol{v}} dV$$
$$+ \int_{\boldsymbol{\theta}\boldsymbol{x}\cap\boldsymbol{v}_{i}} u \,\overline{\boldsymbol{v}} \partial_{i,k} f dS$$

for any $u \in C_0^{0,0}(U_i)$, $v \in C^{0,0}(\overline{X})$ and $k=1, 2, \cdots, 2n$. Since $\partial_{i,\alpha} = \partial_{i,2\alpha-1} + \sqrt{-1}\partial_{i,2\alpha}$ and $\partial_{i,\overline{\alpha}} = \partial_{i,2\alpha-1} - \sqrt{-1}\partial_{i,2\alpha}$, we have

i)
$$\int_{X \cap U_{i}} \partial_{i,\alpha} u \,\overline{v} dV = - \int_{X \cap U_{i}} u \,\overline{(\partial_{i,\overline{\alpha}} + \partial_{i,\overline{\alpha}} \log g_{i}) v} \, dV \\ + \int_{\partial X \cap U_{i}} u \,\overline{v} \partial_{i,\alpha} f dS$$

(1.17)

ii)
$$\int_{\boldsymbol{x}\cap \boldsymbol{v}_{i}} \partial_{i,\,\bar{\beta}} u\,\overline{\boldsymbol{v}}dV = -\int_{\boldsymbol{x}\cap \boldsymbol{v}_{i}} u\,\overline{(\partial_{i,\,\beta} + \partial_{i,\,\beta}\log g_{i})\,\boldsymbol{v}}\,dV$$
$$+\int_{\vartheta\,\boldsymbol{x}\cap \boldsymbol{v}_{i}} u\,\overline{\boldsymbol{v}}\partial_{i,\,\bar{\beta}}fdS$$

for any $u \in C_0^{0,0}(U_i)$, $v \in C^{0,0}(\overline{X})$ and $\alpha, \beta = 1, 2, \cdots, n$.

Let $\{\rho_i\}_{1 \leq i \leq m}$ be a family of C^{∞} -functions on M such that $\operatorname{supp} \rho_i \subseteq U_i$, $0 \leq \rho_i \leq 1$ and $\sum \rho_i \equiv 1$ on \overline{X} . We set $\psi_i^{\prime \alpha} = \rho_i \psi_i^{\alpha}$ and $\psi_i^{\prime \overline{\beta}} = \rho_i \psi_i^{\overline{\beta}}$ respectively. Replacing u and v by $\psi_i^{\prime \alpha}$ and 1 in (1.17) i), we have

$$\int_{X \cap U_i} (\partial_{i,\alpha} \psi_i^{\prime \alpha} + \partial_{i,\alpha} \log g_i \psi_i^{\prime \alpha}) dV = \int_{\partial X \cap U_i} \psi_i^{\prime \alpha} \partial_{i,\alpha} f dS .$$

While,

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \left(\partial_{i,\alpha} \psi_{i}^{\prime \alpha} + \partial_{i,\alpha} \log g_{i} \psi_{i}^{\prime \alpha}\right)$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \partial_{i,\alpha} \psi_{i}^{\prime \alpha} + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \left(\sum_{\gamma=1}^{n} \Gamma_{i,\gamma\alpha}^{\gamma}\right) \psi_{1}^{\prime \alpha} \quad (\text{Use } (1.9).)$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \left(\partial_{i,\alpha} \psi_{i}^{\prime \alpha} + \sum_{\gamma=1}^{n} \Gamma_{i,\alpha\gamma}^{\alpha} \psi_{i}^{\prime \gamma}\right)$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \nabla_{i,\alpha} \psi_{i}^{\prime \alpha}. \quad (\text{Use } (1.11).)$$

Therefore we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}\cap U_i} (\sum_{\alpha=1}^n \nabla_{i,\alpha} \psi_i^{\prime \alpha}) \, dV = \int_{\partial \mathcal{X}\cap U_i} (\sum_{\alpha=1}^n \psi_i^{\prime \alpha} \partial_{i,\alpha} f) \, dS$$

For $\psi_i^{\prime \,\bar{\beta}}$, we have similarly

$$\int_{\boldsymbol{X}\cap U_i} \sum_{\beta=1}^n \nabla_{i,\,\overline{\beta}} \psi_i^{\prime\,\overline{\beta}} dV = \int_{\partial \boldsymbol{X}\cap U_i} \sum_{\beta=1}^n \psi_i^{\prime\,\overline{\beta}} \partial_{i,\,\overline{\beta}} f dS.$$

Using $\psi_i^{\alpha} = \sum_{\beta=1}^n \frac{\partial z_i^{\alpha}}{\partial z_j^{\beta}} \psi_j^{\beta}, \nabla_{i,\alpha} = \sum_{\beta=1}^n \frac{\partial z_j^{\beta}}{\partial z_i^{\alpha}} \nabla_{j,\beta}$ and $\sum \rho_i \equiv 1$ on \overline{X} , we have the conclusion.

Remark 1.1. If ds^2 is a hermitian metric on M which is Kähler on a neighborhood U of ∂X and χ is a C^{∞} -function on M whose support is contained in U, then it is clear that the equation (1.16) holds for $\chi \tilde{\psi} = {\chi \psi^{\alpha}, \chi \psi^{\tilde{\beta}}}$ i.e.

(1.16)'
$$\int_{\mathcal{X}\cap \mathcal{U}} (\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \nabla_{\alpha} (\chi \psi^{\alpha}) + \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \nabla_{\overline{\beta}} (\chi \psi^{\beta})) dV$$
$$= \int_{\partial \mathcal{X}} (\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \chi \psi^{\alpha} \partial_{\alpha} f + \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \chi \psi^{\beta} \partial_{\overline{\beta}} f) dS.$$

Let F be a holomorphic line bundle over M and suppose that F is defined by the system of transition functions $\{f_{ij}\}$ with respect to the coordinate cover $\{U_i\}_{i\in I}$. A hermitian metric on F with respect to this covering is given by the system of positive C^{∞} -functions $\{a_i\}$, each defined on U_i , such that $a_i \cdot a_j^{-1} = |f_{ij}|^2$ on $U_i \cap U_j$. (In this paper, we use the notation of a system of metric along the fibres in the sense of Kodaira [20], p. 1268, (1)). From now on, we fix a hermitian metric of F

$$(1, 18)$$
 $\{c_i\}$

With respect to the covering $\{U_i\}_{i\in I}$ a hermitian inner product \langle , \rangle of F is expressed by the metric $\{c_i\}$ i.e. for C^{∞} -sections $\xi = \{\xi_i\}$ and $\eta = \{\eta_i\}$ of F on M.

$$\langle \hat{s}, \eta \rangle = c_i^{-1} \hat{s}_i \overline{\eta}_i$$
.

With respect to this metric, we can define a connection $\{\theta_i\}$ of F as follows:

(1.19)
$$\theta_i = \sum_{\alpha=1}^n -\partial_\alpha \log c_i dz_i^{\alpha}.$$

The curvature tensor of the above connection is defined by

KENSHO TAKEGOSHI

(1. 20)
$$\theta_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\bar{\beta}} \log c_i.$$

The canonical line bundle K_M of M is defined by the system of transition functions

$$K_{M} = \{K_{M_{ij}}\} \quad \text{where} \quad K_{M_{ij}} = \frac{\partial(z_{j}^{1}, \cdots, z_{j}^{n})}{\partial(z_{i}^{1}, \cdots, z_{i}^{n})} \quad \text{on} \quad U_{i} \cap U_{j}.$$

We see that

$$|K_{\mathcal{M}_{ij}}|^2 = g_i g_j^{-1}$$
 on $U_i \cap U_j$.

Hence

$$(1.21)$$
 $\{g_i\}$

determines a metric of K_M .

Let $C^{p,q}(M, F)$ (resp. $C^{p,q}(X, F)$) be the space of F-valued differential forms of type (p, q) and of class C^{∞} on M (resp. on X) and let $C^{p,q}(\overline{X}, F)$ be the image of the restriction map from $C^{p,q}(M, F)$ to $C^{p,q}(X, F)$. Let $C_0^{p,q}(M, F)$ (resp. $C_{q}^{p,q}(X, F)$) be the space of the forms in $C^{p,q}(M, F)$ (resp. $C^{p,q}(X, F)$) with compact supports. It is clear that $C_0^{p,q}(X, F)$ is a subspace of $C^{p,q}(\overline{X}, F)$. We express $\varphi = \{\varphi_i\} \in C^{p,q}(M, F)$ as $\varphi_i = \frac{1}{p! q!} \sum_{\alpha_1, \cdots, \alpha_p} \sum_{\beta_1, \cdots, \beta_q} \varphi_{i,\alpha_1, \cdots, \alpha_{p}, \overline{\beta_1}, \cdots, \overline{\beta_q}} dz_i^{\alpha_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dz_i^{\alpha_p} \wedge d\overline{z}_i^{\beta_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge d\overline{z}_i^{\beta_q}$. For $\varphi \in C^{p,q}(M, F)$, we set

$$\varphi_i^{\overline{\alpha}_1,\cdots,\overline{\alpha}_p,\beta_1,\cdots,\beta_q} = \sum g_i^{\overline{\alpha}_1c_1}\cdots g_i^{\overline{\alpha}_pc_p} g_i^{\overline{a}_1\beta_1}\cdots g_i^{\overline{a}_q\beta_q} \varphi_{i,c_1,\cdots,c_p,\overline{a}_1,\cdots,\overline{a}_q}.$$

For simplicity, we write

$$\varphi_i^{\bar{A}_p B_q} = \sum g_i^{\bar{A}_p C_p} g_i^{\bar{D}_q B_q} \varphi_{i, C_p \bar{D}_q},$$

where $A_p = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_p)$, $B_q = (\beta_1, \dots, \beta_q)$, $C_p = (c_1, \dots, c_p)$ and $D_q = (d_1, \dots, d_q)$.

We set

$$\langle \varphi, \psi \rangle = c_i^{-1} \sum_{A_p, B_q} \varphi_{i, A_p, \overline{B}_q} \overline{\psi_i^{\overline{A}_p B_q}}$$

where $A_p = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_p)$ and $B_q = (\beta_1, \dots, \beta_q)$ run through the sets of multiindices with $1 \leq \alpha_1 < \alpha_2 <, \dots, < \alpha_p \leq n$ and $1 \leq \beta_1 < \beta_2 <, \dots, < \beta_q \leq n$ respectively. Then we have

$$c_i^{-1}\varphi_i \wedge_* \overline{\psi}_i = \langle \varphi, \psi \rangle dV$$
,

where * is the star operator with respect to the metric ds^2 .

For φ and $\psi \in C^{p,q}(\overline{X}, F)$, we define

$$(\varphi, \psi) = \int_{\mathcal{X}} \langle \varphi, \psi \rangle dV.$$

For any real valued C^{∞} -function Ψ on M, we define

$$(\varphi,\psi)_{\mathbf{y}} = \int_{\mathbf{x}} \langle \varphi,\psi \rangle_{\mathbf{y}} dV,$$

where $\langle \varphi, \psi \rangle_{\mathbb{F}} = \langle \varphi, \psi \rangle e^{-\mathbb{F}}$.

We set

(1.22)
$$\|\varphi\|^2 = (\varphi, \varphi)$$
$$\|\varphi\|^2_{\mathbf{F}} = (\varphi, \varphi)_{\mathbf{F}}$$

We have the operator $\overline{\partial}: C^{p,q}(\overline{X}, F) \to C^{p,q+1}(\overline{X}, F)$ defined by $(\overline{\partial}\varphi)_i = \overline{\partial}\varphi_i$. Then formal adjoint operators ϑ and ϑ_T are defined by

(1. 23)
$$(\partial \varphi, \psi) = (\varphi, \vartheta \psi)$$
$$(\bar{\partial} \varphi, \psi)_{\overline{y}} = (\varphi, \vartheta_{\overline{y}} \psi)_{\overline{y}}$$

for any $\varphi \in C_0^{p,q}(X,F)$ and $\psi \in C_0^{p,q+1}(X,F)$.

Lemma 1.2. If
$$\varphi \in C^{p,q}(X, F)$$
 and $\psi \in C^{p,q+1}(X, F)$, we have
i) $(\bar{\partial}\varphi, \psi)_{\overline{v}} = (\varphi, \vartheta_{\overline{v}}\psi)_{\overline{v}}$
 $+ \int_{\vartheta X} (c_i \exp(\Psi) q!)^{-1} \sum \varphi_{i,c_p \bar{p}_q} \overline{g_i}^{\overline{c}_p \overline{c}_p} g_i^{\overline{F}_q D_q} \left(\sum_{\alpha=1}^n \psi_{i,\alpha} \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_i^{\alpha}}\right) dS,$
ii) $(\vartheta_{\overline{v}}\psi)_{i,A_p \bar{B}_q} = -\sum_{\beta=1}^n (\partial_\beta + \partial_\beta \log(c_i^{-1}e^{-\Psi}g_i))\psi_{i,\beta} \frac{\partial_{A_p,\overline{B}_q}}{\partial z_i}$

for any real valued C^{∞} -function Ψ on M.

Remark 1.2. In this lemma, ds^2 need not be a Kähler metric.

Proof. Take elements u and v of $C^{0,0}(\overline{X}, F)$. Applying a family of C^{∞} -functions $\{\rho_i\}$ on M which was taken as in the proof of Lemma 1.1, to u and v, we have the following formula similar to (1.17):

(1.24)
$$\int_{x} c^{-1} \partial_{\bar{a}} u \, \bar{v} \, e^{-\bar{v}} dV =$$

KENSHO TAKEGOSHI

$$-\int_{x}c^{-1}u\left(\overline{\partial_{\alpha}+\partial_{\alpha}\log\left(c^{-1}e^{-\overline{w}}g\right)\right)v}\,dV+\int_{\partial x}c^{-1}u\,\overline{v}\,e^{-\overline{w}}\partial_{\overline{\alpha}}f\,dS$$

for any real valued C^{∞} -function Ψ on M and $\alpha = 1, 2, \dots, n$. Here we omitted *i* for simplicity and, in this proof, we do so. For an element φ of $C^{p,q}(\overline{X}, F)$, φ and $\overline{\partial}\varphi$ are represented as

$$\varphi = \frac{1}{q!} \sum_{\beta_1, \cdots, \beta_q} \varphi_{A_p, \bar{\beta}_1, \cdots, \bar{\beta}_q} dz^{A_p} \wedge d\bar{z}^{\beta_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge d\bar{z}^{\beta_q}$$

and

$$\bar{\partial}\varphi = \frac{1}{(q+1)!} \sum_{\beta_0, \cdots, \beta_q} (\bar{\partial}\varphi)_{A_p, \bar{\beta}_0, \cdots, \bar{\beta}_q} dz^{A_p} \wedge d\bar{z}^{\beta_0} \wedge \cdots \wedge d\bar{z}^{\beta_q}$$

where $A_p = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_p)$ and $dz^{A_p} = dz^{\alpha_1} \wedge \dots \wedge dz^{\alpha_p}$ and so on. Since $(\bar{\partial}\varphi)_{A_p, \bar{\beta}_0, \dots, \bar{\beta}_q} = \sum_{k=0}^{q} (-1)^{p+k} \partial_{\bar{\beta}_k} \varphi_{A_p, \bar{\beta}_0, \dots, \hat{\beta}_k, \dots, \bar{\beta}_q}$, we have $(\bar{\partial}\varphi, \phi)_{\Psi} = \int_{x} \frac{1}{(q+1)!} c^{-1} \sum_{A_p} \sum_{\bar{B}_{q+1}} (\bar{\partial}\varphi)_{A_p, \bar{\beta}_{q+1}} \overline{\psi}^{\bar{A}_p \bar{B}_{q+1}} e^{-\Psi} 2^n g dx^1 \wedge \dots \wedge dx^{2n}$

$$= \int_{x} \frac{2^{n}}{q!} \sum_{A_{p}\beta, B_{q}} \partial_{\bar{\beta}} \varphi_{A_{p}\overline{B}_{q}} \overline{\psi}^{\beta \overline{A}_{p}\overline{B}_{q}} (c^{-1}e^{-\overline{\nu}}g) dx^{1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^{2n}$$
(by (1.24))

$$= -\int_{X} \frac{2^{n}}{q!} \sum_{A_{p}\beta, \overline{B}_{q}} \varphi_{A_{p}\overline{B}_{q}} \overline{\partial}_{\beta} (\psi^{\beta \overline{A}_{p} \overline{B}_{q}} c^{-1} e^{-\overline{\tau}} g) dx^{1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^{2n}$$

$$+ \int_{\vartheta X} (c e^{\overline{\tau}} q!)^{-1} \sum_{A_{p}, \overline{B}_{q}} \varphi_{A_{p}, \overline{B}_{q}} \overline{(\sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \psi^{\beta \overline{A}_{p} \overline{B}_{q}} \partial_{\beta} f)} dS$$

$$= (\varphi, \vartheta_{\overline{\tau}} \psi)_{\overline{\tau}}$$

$$+ \int_{\vartheta X} (c e^{\overline{\tau}} q!)^{-1} \sum_{A_{p}, \overline{B}_{q}} \varphi_{A_{p}, \overline{B}_{q}} \overline{\sum_{p, D_{q}} g^{\overline{A}_{p} C_{p}} g^{\overline{D}_{q} \overline{B}_{q}} (\sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \psi^{\beta} c_{p} \overline{D}_{q} \partial_{\beta} f)} dS.$$

In the last line, the equality of the first term holds by definition. Hence we have i) and ii). Q.E.D.

From now on, we consider the following subspace of $C^{p,q}(\overline{X},F)$.

(1.25)
$$B^{p,q}(\overline{X},F) = \{ \varphi \in C^{p,q}(\overline{X},F) \mid \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \varphi_{i}, {}^{\alpha}{}_{\mathcal{C}_{p}\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{q-1}} \hat{\partial}_{i,\alpha} \Phi = 0$$

on ∂X for every multi-index C_{p} and $D_{q-1} \}$.

Lemma 1.3. If $\varphi \in C^{p,q}(\overline{X}, F)$ and $\psi \in B^{p,q+1}(\overline{X}, F)$, we have

 $(\overline{\partial}\varphi,\psi)_{\Psi} = (\varphi,\vartheta_{\Psi}\psi)_{\Psi}$ for any real valued C^{∞} -function Ψ on M.

Proof. Since df and $d\Phi$ are proportional on ∂X , our lemma follows immediately from Lemma 1.2. Q.E.D.

Let $\mathcal{T}_{p,q}(M, F)$ (resp. $\mathcal{T}_{p,q}(M)$) be the space of *F*-valued (resp. scalar) tensor fields of type (p,q). The connections (1.2) and (1.19) give rise to covariant differentiations $\nabla_{\alpha}, \nabla_{\alpha}^{(c)}$ of type (1,0) and $\nabla_{\bar{\beta}}$ of type (0,1) in $\mathcal{T}_{p,q}(M, F)$ and $\mathcal{T}_{p,q}(M)$ as follows:

i)
$$\nabla_{i,\alpha}\varphi_{i,\alpha_{1},\cdots,\alpha_{p},\bar{\beta}_{1},\cdots,\bar{\beta}_{q}} = \partial_{i,\alpha}\varphi_{i,\alpha_{1},\cdots,\alpha_{p},\bar{\beta}_{1},\cdots,\bar{\beta}_{q}}$$

 $-\sum_{t=1}^{p}\sum_{\tau=1}^{n}\Gamma_{i,\alpha\alpha_{t}}^{\tau} \times \varphi_{i,\alpha_{1},\cdots,\bar{\tau},\cdots,\alpha_{p},\bar{\beta}_{1},\cdots,\bar{\beta}_{q}}$

(1.26)

ii)
$$\nabla_{i,\overline{\beta}}\varphi_{i,\alpha_{1},\cdots,\alpha_{p},\overline{\beta}_{1},\cdots,\overline{\beta}_{q}} = \partial_{i,\overline{\beta}}\varphi_{i,\alpha_{1},\cdots,\alpha_{p},\overline{\beta}_{1},\cdots,\overline{\beta}_{q}}$$

 $-\sum_{t=1}^{q}\sum_{\tau=1}^{n}\Gamma_{i,\overline{\beta}\overline{\beta}_{t}}^{\overline{\tau}} \times \varphi_{i,\alpha_{1},\cdots,\alpha_{p},\overline{\beta}_{1},\cdots,\overline{\beta}_{q}}^{t}$

for every $\varphi \in \mathcal{T}_{p,q}(M)$.

i)
$$\nabla_{i,\alpha}^{(c)} \varphi_{i,\alpha_{1},\cdots,\alpha_{p},\overline{\beta}_{1},\cdots,\overline{\beta}_{q}} = \nabla_{i,\alpha} \varphi_{i,\alpha_{1},\cdots,\alpha_{p},\overline{\beta}_{1},\cdots,\overline{\beta}_{q}}$$

 $-\partial_{i,\alpha} \log c_{i} \times \varphi_{i,\alpha_{1},\cdots,\alpha_{p},\overline{\beta}_{1},\cdots,\overline{\beta}_{q}}$

(1.27)

ii)
$$\nabla_{i,\bar{g}}\varphi_{i,\alpha_{1},\cdots,\alpha_{p},\bar{\beta}_{1},\cdots,\bar{\beta}_{q}} = \partial_{i,\bar{g}}\varphi_{i,\alpha_{1},\cdots,\alpha_{p},\bar{\beta}_{1},\cdots,\bar{\beta}_{q}}$$

 $-\sum_{t=1}^{q}\sum_{\tau=1}^{n}\Gamma_{i,\bar{\beta}\bar{\beta}\bar{f}_{t}} \times \varphi_{i,\alpha_{1},\cdots,\alpha_{p},\bar{\beta}_{1},\cdots,\bar{\tau},\cdots,\bar{\beta}_{q}}$

for every $\varphi \in \mathcal{T}_{p,q}(M, F)$.

Then, by using the term of covariant differentiations, we can describe the operators $\overline{\partial}$, ϑ as follows (see [21], p. 110, Proposition 5.2 and p. 122, Proposition 6.7):

(1.28)
$$\begin{split} \overline{\partial}\varphi_{i,c_{p},\overline{a}_{0},\cdots,\overline{a}_{q}} = &\sum_{\mu=0}^{q} (-1)^{\mu+p} \nabla_{i,\overline{a}_{\mu}}\varphi_{i,c_{p},\overline{a}_{0},\cdots,\overline{a}_{\mu},\cdots,\overline{a}_{q}} \\ &\vartheta\varphi_{i,c_{p},\overline{a}_{1},\cdots,\overline{a}_{q-1}} = -\sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{n} g_{i}{}^{\beta\alpha} \nabla_{i,\alpha}^{(c)}\varphi_{i,\overline{\beta},c_{p},\overline{a}_{1},\cdots,\overline{a}_{q-1}} \end{split}$$

for any $\varphi \in \mathcal{T}_{p,q}(M, F)$.

Lemma 1.4. For an element $\varphi = \{\varphi_{i,D_p}\}$ $(D_p = (d_1, \dots, d_p)) \in \mathcal{I}_{0,p}(M, F)$, we set

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{\xi}_{i}^{\ \beta} &= \sum_{\tau=1}^{n} c_{i}^{-1} \nabla_{i, \tau} \varphi_{i, \beta}^{\ \beta} \varphi_{i, \gamma}^{\tau D_{p-1}} \quad (\beta = 1, 2, \cdots, n) \\ \eta_{i}^{\ \tau} &= \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} c_{i}^{-1} \nabla_{i, \beta}^{(c)} \varphi_{i, \beta}^{\ \beta} \varphi_{i, \gamma}^{\tau D_{p-1}} \quad (\gamma = 1, 2, \cdots, n) \end{aligned}$$

then $\xi = \{\xi_i^{\beta}\}$ and $\eta = \{\eta_i^{\overline{\eta}}\}$ are vector fields on M.

Proof. We recall the following relations:

i)
$$G_i = {}^t \left(\frac{\partial z_j^{\lambda}}{\partial z_i^{\tau}} \right) G_j \overline{\left(\frac{\partial z_j^{\tau}}{\partial z_i^{\sigma}} \right)}, \quad G_i^{-1} = \overline{\left(\frac{\partial z_i^{\tau}}{\partial z_j^{\tau}} \right)} G_i^{-1} \left(\frac{\partial z_i^{\tau}}{\partial z_j^{\lambda}} \right)$$

(1.29) where $G_i = (g_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}})$ and $G_j^{-1} = (g_i^{\bar{\beta}\alpha})$

ii)
$$\nabla_{i,\bar{k}} = \sum_{\lambda=1}^{n} \overline{\left(\frac{\partial z_{j}^{\lambda}}{\partial z_{i}^{\lambda}}\right)} \nabla_{j,\bar{\lambda}}, \quad \nabla_{i,\bar{k}}^{(c)} = \sum_{\lambda=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial z_{j}^{\lambda}}{\partial z_{i}^{\lambda}}\right) \nabla_{j,\lambda}^{(c)} \quad (\text{see [21], p. 108)}.$$

We prove the case p=2. The proofs of other cases are similar. We set

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\xi}}_{i} = \sum_{h=1}^{n} \hat{\boldsymbol{\xi}}_{i}^{h} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{i}^{h}} \right) = \sum_{h=1}^{n} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} \boldsymbol{c}_{i}^{-1} \nabla_{i,k} \varphi_{i,h} \overline{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}_{i,h} \right) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{i}^{h}} \right) \quad \text{on } U_{i}.$$

Since $\{\varphi_i, {}^h_{\bar{i}}\}$ (resp. $\{\varphi_i^{k\lambda}\}$) is a C^{∞} -section of $F \otimes TM \otimes \overline{TM}^*$ (resp. $F \otimes TM \otimes TM$), we have

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{i_{i}}{}^{h}{}_{\bar{\lambda}} &= f_{ij} \sum_{\alpha,\tau=1}^{n} \frac{\partial z_{i}^{k}}{\partial z_{j}^{\tau}} \overline{\frac{\partial z_{j}^{a}}{\partial z_{i}^{\lambda}}} \varphi_{j,\tau}{}_{\bar{\alpha}} \\ \varphi_{i}{}^{k\lambda} &= f_{ij} \sum_{\alpha,\sigma=1}^{n} \frac{\partial z_{i}^{k}}{\partial z_{j}^{\tau}} \frac{\partial z_{i}^{k}}{\partial z_{j}^{\sigma}} \varphi_{j}{}^{\sigma\alpha} \end{split} \qquad \text{on } U_{i} \cap U_{j}. \end{split}$$

Then, using (1.29), we have

$$\begin{split} \hat{\boldsymbol{\xi}}_{i} &= \sum_{\boldsymbol{h},\boldsymbol{k}} \nabla_{i,\boldsymbol{k}} \varphi_{i,\boldsymbol{k}}^{\ \ h} \overline{\boldsymbol{\lambda}} \overline{\varphi_{i}^{\ \ h}} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{i}^{\ h}} \right) \\ &= c_{i}^{-1} |f_{ij}|^{2} \sum_{\boldsymbol{h},\boldsymbol{k}} \left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{\beta}=1}^{n} \frac{\overline{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{i}^{\ \boldsymbol{k}}} \nabla_{j,\boldsymbol{\beta}} \left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{\alpha},\boldsymbol{\tau}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{i}^{\ h}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}} \frac{\overline{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\alpha}}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{i}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}} \varphi_{j,\boldsymbol{\tau}}^{\ \boldsymbol{\tau}} \right) \right) \\ &\times \left(\overline{\sum_{\boldsymbol{\alpha},\boldsymbol{\sigma}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{i}^{\ \boldsymbol{k}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{i}^{\ \boldsymbol{\lambda}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}} \varphi_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}} \alpha} \right) \left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{\tau}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\tau}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{i}^{\ \boldsymbol{\theta}}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}} \right) \\ &= c_{j}^{-1} \sum_{\boldsymbol{h},\boldsymbol{k}} \left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{\alpha},\boldsymbol{\beta},\boldsymbol{\tau}} \frac{\overline{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\beta}}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{i}^{\ \boldsymbol{\theta}}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{i}^{\ \boldsymbol{\delta}}} \nabla_{j,\boldsymbol{\beta}} \varphi_{j,\boldsymbol{\tau}}^{\ \boldsymbol{\tau}} \right) \left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{\alpha},\boldsymbol{\sigma}} \frac{\overline{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{i}^{\ \boldsymbol{\delta}}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}} \frac{\overline{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}} \right) \left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{\tau}} \frac{\overline{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}} \overline{\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}} \right) \left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{\tau}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{i}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}} \right) \left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{\tau}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}} \right) \left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{\tau}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{i}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}} \right) \left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{\tau}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{i}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}} \right) \left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{\tau}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}} \right) \left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{\tau}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{z}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}}{\partial \boldsymbol{z}} \right) \left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{\tau}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{z}}_{j}^{\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}}} \right) \left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{\tau}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{z}}_$$

$$= \sum_{\tau,\beta} \nabla_{j,\overline{\beta}} \varphi_{j,\overline{\tau}} \overline{\varphi_{j}}^{\beta \alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{j}^{\tau}} = \xi_{j}.$$

Hence we have $\hat{\xi}_i = \hat{\xi}_j$ on $U_i \cap U_j$. Therefore $\hat{\xi} = \{\hat{\xi}_i^{\ \theta}\}$ is a vector field on M. We set

$$\eta_i = \sum_{h=1}^n \eta_i^{\bar{h}} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}_i^h} \right) = \sum_{h=1}^n \left(\sum_{k=1}^n c_i^{-1} \nabla_{i,k}^{(c)} \varphi_{i,k}^{-k} \bar{\varphi}_i^{-\bar{h}\bar{\lambda}} \right) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}_i^h} \right) \quad \text{on } U_i.$$

Then we have $\eta_i = \eta_j$ on $U_i \cap U_j$ and so $\eta = \{\eta_i^{\dagger}\}$ is a vector field on M. Q.E.D.

Proposition 1.5. We have

$$(1. 30) \|\overline{\partial}\varphi\|^{2} + \|\vartheta\varphi\|^{2}$$

$$= \int_{\vartheta X} (c_{i}|\operatorname{grad} \vartheta|)^{-1} \sum_{\substack{D_{p-1} = (d_{1}, \cdots, d_{p-1}) \\ d_{1} < d_{2} < \cdots < d_{p-1} = (d_{1}, \cdots, d_{p-1})}} \sum_{\beta, \overline{\gamma} = 1}^{n} \partial_{\beta} \partial_{\overline{\gamma}} \vartheta\varphi_{i,\beta} \sum_{p_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_{i}}^{\overline{\gamma} D_{p-1}} dS$$

$$+ \|\overline{\nabla}\varphi\|^{2} + \int_{X} c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{\substack{D_{p-1} = (d_{1}, \cdots, d_{p-1}) \\ d_{1} < d_{2} < \cdots < d_{p-1} = (d_{p-1})}} \sum_{\alpha, \overline{\gamma} = 1}^{n} (\theta_{i,\overline{\gamma}} - R_{i,\overline{\gamma}}) \varphi_{i,\overline{\alpha} D_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_{i}}^{\overline{\gamma} D_{p-1}} dV$$
for $\varphi \in B^{0,p}(\overline{X}, F)$ $(p \ge 1)$, where $\theta_{i,\overline{\gamma}} = \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} g_{i}^{\overline{\alpha}\beta} \theta_{i,\beta\overline{\gamma}}$, $R_{i,\overline{\gamma}} = \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} g_{i}^{\overline{\alpha}\beta} R_{i,\overline{\gamma}\beta}$ and
$$\|\overline{\nabla}\varphi\|^{2} = \int_{X} c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{\substack{D_{p} = (d_{1}, \cdots, d_{p}) \\ d_{1} < \cdots < d_{p}}} \sum_{\beta, \overline{\gamma} = 1}^{n} g_{i}^{\overline{\beta}\gamma} \nabla_{\overline{\beta}} \varphi_{i,D_{p}} \overline{\nabla_{\overline{\gamma}}} \overline{\varphi_{i}}^{D_{p}} dV.$$

Proof. For an element φ of $B^{0,p}(\overline{X}, F)$, we set $\tilde{\xi} = \{ \hat{\xi}^{\beta} = \sum_{\substack{D_{p-1} = (d_1, \cdots, d_{p-1}) \\ D_{p-1} = (d_1, \cdots, d_{p-1})}} c_{i,\overline{i}}^{-1} \overline{\varphi_{i,\beta}} \overline{\varphi_{i,\beta}}_{p-1} \overline{\varphi_{i,\beta}}^{\overline{\tau} D_{p-1}}, \hat{\xi}^{\overline{\beta}} = 0 : \beta = 1, 2, \cdots, n \}$ $\tilde{\eta} = \{ \eta^{\tau} = 0, \eta^{\overline{\tau}} = \sum_{\substack{D_{p-1} = (d_1, \cdots, d_{p-1}) \\ D_{p-1} = (d_1, \cdots, d_{p-1})}} c_{i,\overline{\rho}}^{-1} \overline{\varphi_{i,\beta}} \overline{\varphi_{i,\beta}}_{p-1} \overline{\varphi_{i,\beta}}^{\overline{\tau} D_{p-1}} : \gamma = 1, 2, \cdots, n \}.$

Then, by Lemma 1.4, $\tilde{\xi}$ and $\tilde{\eta}$ are vector fields on a neighborhood of \overline{X} . We calculate the divergences of $\tilde{\xi}$ and $\tilde{\eta}$.

$$\sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \nabla_{\beta} \hat{\varsigma}^{\beta} = \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \nabla_{\beta} \left(c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{\tau, D_{p-1}} \nabla_{\bar{\tau}} \varphi_{i}{}^{\beta} \bar{D}_{p-1} \overline{\varphi_{i}}^{\tau D_{p-1}} \right)$$
$$= c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{\beta, \tau \atop D_{p-1}} \left(\nabla_{\beta} - \partial_{\beta} \log c_{i} \right) \nabla_{\bar{\tau}} \varphi_{i}{}^{\beta} \bar{D}_{p-1} \varphi_{i}^{\tau D_{p-1}}$$
$$+ c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{\beta, \tau \atop D_{p-1}} \nabla_{\bar{\tau}} \varphi_{i}{}^{\beta} \bar{D}_{p-1} \overline{\nabla_{\bar{\beta}}} \varphi_{i}{}^{\tau D_{p-1}}$$

KENSHO TAKEGOSHI

$$= c_i^{-1} \sum_{\substack{\beta, \tau \\ D_{p-1}}} \nabla_{\bar{\gamma}} \nabla_{\bar{\beta}} \nabla_{\beta}^{(c)} \varphi_{i}{}^{\beta}{}_{\bar{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_{i}}^{\tau D_{p-1}} \quad (\text{Use } \nabla_{\beta}^{(c)} = \nabla_{\beta} - \partial_{\beta} \log c_{i}.)$$

$$+ c_i^{-1} \sum_{\substack{\beta, \tau \\ D_{p-1}}} \nabla_{\bar{\gamma}} \varphi_{i}{}^{\beta}{}_{\bar{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\nabla_{\bar{\beta}} \varphi_{i}}^{\tau D_{p-1}} \cdots \cdots *)$$

$$+ c_i^{-1} \sum_{\substack{\beta, \tau \\ D_{p-1}}} [\nabla_{\beta}^{(c)}, \nabla_{\bar{\tau}}] \varphi_{i}{}^{\beta}{}_{\bar{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_{i}}^{\tau D_{p-1}} \cdots **).$$

We calculate the commutator. Since $\nabla_{\beta}^{(e)} = \nabla_{\beta} - \partial_{\beta} \log c_i$, for every $D_p = (d_1, \cdots, d_p)$, we have

$$[\nabla^{(c)}_{\beta}, \nabla_{\bar{t}}]\varphi_{i,\bar{D}_{p}} = [\nabla_{\beta}, \nabla_{\bar{t}}]\varphi_{i,\bar{D}_{p}} + \theta_{i,\beta\bar{t}}\varphi_{i,\bar{D}_{p}}.$$

Using (1.26), we have

$$\nabla_{\bar{\tau}} \nabla_{\beta} \varphi_{i,\bar{D}_p} = \partial_{\bar{\tau}} \partial_{\beta} \varphi_{i,\bar{D}_p} - \sum_{\mu=1}^{p} \sum_{\tau=1}^{n} \Gamma_{i,\bar{\tau}\bar{d}_{\mu}} \partial_{\beta} \varphi_{i,\bar{d}_{1},\dots,\bar{\tau},\dots,\bar{d}_{p}}^{\mu}$$

and

$$\nabla_{\beta} \nabla_{\bar{\tau}} \varphi_{i,\bar{D}_{p}} = \partial_{\beta} \partial_{\bar{\tau}} \varphi_{i,\bar{D}_{p}} - \sum_{\mu=1}^{p} \sum_{\tau=1}^{n} \partial_{\beta} \Gamma_{i,\bar{\tau}}^{\dagger} \bar{a}_{\mu} \varphi_{i,\bar{a}_{1},\dots,\bar{\tau},\dots,\bar{a}_{p}} \\ - \sum_{\mu=1}^{p} \sum_{\tau=1}^{n} \Gamma_{i,\bar{\tau}}^{\dagger} \bar{a}_{\mu} \partial_{\beta} \varphi_{i,\bar{a}_{1},\dots,\bar{\tau},\dots,\bar{a}_{p}}.$$

Hence

$$[\nabla_{\beta}, \nabla_{\bar{\tau}}]\varphi_{i,\bar{D}_{\beta}} = -\sum_{\mu=1}^{p}\sum_{\tau=1}^{n}R_{i,\bar{\bar{d}}_{\mu}\beta\bar{\tau}}\varphi_{i,\bar{\bar{d}}_{1},\cdots,\bar{\bar{t}}_{r},\cdots,\bar{\bar{d}}_{p}}^{\mu}. \quad (\text{Use } (1,3).)$$

Therefore we have

$$\begin{bmatrix} \nabla_{\beta}^{(c)}, \nabla_{\bar{\tau}} \end{bmatrix} \varphi_{i, \bar{D}_p} = -\sum_{\mu=1}^{p} \sum_{\tau=1}^{n} R_{i, \bar{d}_{\mu}\beta\bar{\tau}} \varphi_{i, \bar{d}_{1}, \cdots, \bar{t}_{p}}^{\mu} + \theta_{i, \beta\bar{\tau}} \varphi_{i, \bar{D}_{p}}$$

for every $D_{p} = (d_{1}, \cdots, d_{p}).$

So

$$**) = c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma} g_{i}^{\bar{\alpha}\beta} [\nabla_{\beta}^{(c)}, \nabla_{\bar{\gamma}}] \varphi_{i,\bar{\alpha}\bar{B}_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_{i}^{TD_{p-1}}} \qquad (\text{Use } (1.12).)$$

$$= -c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{\beta,\gamma,\alpha} g_{i}^{\bar{\alpha}\beta} (\sum_{\mu=1}^{p-1} \sum_{\tau=1}^{n} R_{i,\bar{\overline{a}}_{\mu}\beta\bar{\gamma}} \varphi_{i,\bar{\alpha}\bar{\overline{a}}_{1},\dots,\bar{\overline{\tau}},\dots,\bar{\overline{a}}_{p-1}}) \overline{\varphi_{i}^{TD_{p-1}}}$$

$$+ c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma} g_{i}^{\bar{\alpha}\beta} \theta_{i,\beta\bar{\gamma}} \varphi_{i,\bar{\alpha}\bar{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_{i}^{TD_{p-1}}}$$

$$= -c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\tau} g_{i}^{\bar{\alpha}\beta} R_{i,\bar{\overline{\alpha}}\beta\bar{\gamma}} \varphi_{i,\bar{\tau}\bar{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_{i}^{TD_{p-1}}}$$

$$-c_{i}^{-1}\sum_{\alpha,\beta,\tau,\tau}g_{i}^{\tilde{\alpha}\beta}R_{i,\overline{a}},\overline{b}_{\mu}^{\tau}\varphi_{i,\overline{\alpha}}\overline{a}_{1,\cdots},\overline{b}_{\tau}^{\mu}, \overline{a}_{p-1}\overline{\varphi_{i}^{\tau D_{p-1}}} +c_{i}^{-1}\sum_{\alpha,\tau}\theta_{i,\overline{\epsilon}}\varphi_{i,\overline{\alpha}}\overline{b}_{p-1}, \overline{\varphi_{i}^{\tau D_{p-1}}}$$

From the Kähler property of ds^2 , we have

$$R_{i,\bar{a}_{\mu\bar{\tau}}}^{\bar{\tau}} = \sum_{\beta} g_{i}^{\bar{\alpha}\beta} R_{i,\bar{d}_{\mu}\beta\bar{\tau}}^{\bar{\tau}} = R_{i,\bar{a}_{\mu}\bar{\tau}}^{\bar{a}} \qquad (\text{see } 1.8).$$

Moreover we remark that $\varphi_{i,\bar{\alpha}}\bar{a}_{1,\dots,\bar{t}},\dots,\bar{a}_{p-1} = -\varphi_{i,\bar{\tau}}\bar{a}_{1,\dots,\bar{a}},\dots,\bar{a}_{p-1}$. Hence the second term is zero.

So we have

$$**) = -c_i^{-1} \sum_{\vec{\tau},\vec{\tau}} \left(\sum_{\alpha,\beta} g_i^{\bar{\alpha}\beta} R_{i,\bar{\alpha}\beta\bar{\gamma}}^{\bar{\tau}} \right) \varphi_{i,\bar{\tau}\bar{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_i^{\tau D_{p^{-1}}}}$$

$$+ c_i^{-1} \sum_{\alpha,\bar{\tau}} \theta_{i,\bar{\tau}}^{\bar{\alpha}} \varphi_{i,\bar{\alpha}\bar{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_i^{\tau D_{p-1}}} .$$

On the other hand,

$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{n} g_{i}^{\bar{\alpha}\beta} R_{i,\bar{\alpha}\beta\bar{\gamma}}^{\bar{\epsilon}} = \sum_{\alpha,\beta,\lambda} g_{i}^{\bar{\alpha}\beta} g_{i}^{\bar{\epsilon}\lambda} R_{i,\lambda\bar{\alpha}\beta\bar{\gamma}}$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha,\lambda} g_{i}^{\bar{\epsilon}\lambda} \overline{\sum_{\beta}} g_{i}^{\bar{\beta}\alpha} R_{i,\bar{\beta}\alpha\bar{\lambda}\gamma} \quad (\text{Use } (1.5) \text{ and } (1.8).)$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha,\lambda} g_{i}^{\bar{\epsilon}\lambda} \overline{R_{i,\alpha\bar{\lambda}\gamma}}$$

$$= \sum_{\lambda} g_{i}^{\bar{\epsilon}\lambda} R_{i,\bar{\gamma}\lambda} \quad (\text{Use } (1.6).)$$

$$= R_{i,\bar{\gamma}}^{\bar{\epsilon}}.$$

Hence we have

$$**) = (p-1)! c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{d_{1} < \dots < d_{p-1}} \sum_{\alpha, \tau=1}^{n} (\theta_{i, \tilde{\tau}}^{\tilde{\alpha}} - R_{i, \tilde{\tau}}^{\tilde{\alpha}}) \varphi_{i, \bar{\alpha}\bar{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_{i}^{\tau D_{p-1}}} .$$
Since $\bar{\partial} \varphi_{i, \bar{D}_{p+1}} = \sum_{\mu=0}^{p} (-1)^{\mu} \nabla_{\overline{d_{\mu}}} \varphi_{i, \overline{d}_{0}, \dots, \overline{d}_{\mu}, \dots, \overline{d_{p}}},$

$$(\bar{\partial} \varphi)_{i}^{D_{p+1}} = \sum_{\overline{E}_{p+1}} g_{i}^{\overline{E}_{p+1}, D_{p+1}} (\bar{\partial} \varphi)_{i, \overline{E}_{p+1}}$$

$$= \sum_{i} g_{i}^{\tilde{e}_{0} d_{0}} \dots g_{i}^{\tilde{e}_{\tau} d_{\tau}} \dots g_{i}^{\tilde{e}_{p} d_{p}} (\sum_{\tau=0}^{p} (-1)^{\tau} \nabla_{\tilde{e}_{\tau}} \varphi_{i, \bar{e}_{0}, \dots, \hat{e}_{\tau}, \dots, \bar{e}_{p}})$$

$$= \sum_{\tau=0}^{p} (-1)^{\tau} g_{i}^{\tilde{e}_{\tau} d_{\tau}} \nabla_{\bar{e}_{\tau}} \varphi_{i}^{d_{0}, \dots, \hat{d}_{\tau}, \dots, d_{p}} . \quad (\text{Use } (1.12).)$$

Hence

KENSHO TAKEGOSHI

$$+ c_i^{-1} \sum_{\mu \neq \tau} (-1)^{\mu + \tau} g_i^{\overline{d}_{\tau} e_{\tau}} \nabla_{d_{\mu}} \varphi_{i, \overline{d}_{0}, \cdots, \overline{d}_{\tau}, \cdots, \overline{d}_{\mu}, \cdots, \overline{d}_{P}} \\ \times \overline{\nabla_{\overline{e}_{\tau}} \varphi_i^{d_{0}, \cdots, d_{\tau}, \cdots, d_{\mu}, \cdots, d_{q}}} \quad \text{(the terms with } \mu \neq \tau\text{)}.$$

Since $\mu + \tau + (\mu + \tau - 1) \equiv 1 \mod 2$, we have

$$\langle \overline{\partial} \varphi, \overline{\partial} \varphi \rangle = c_i^{-1} \sum_{\substack{\beta \notin \mathcal{D}_p \\ d_1 < \cdots < d_p}} g_i^{\overline{\beta} \tau} \nabla_{\overline{\beta}} \varphi_{i, \overline{D}_p} \overline{\nabla_{\overline{\tau}} \varphi_i^{\mathcal{D}_p}} - c_i^{-1} \sum_{\substack{\alpha \neq \beta \\ \alpha, \beta \notin \mathcal{D}_{p-1} = (d_1, \cdots, d_{p-1}) \\ d_1 < \cdots < d_{p-1}} g_i^{\overline{\beta} \tau} \nabla_{\overline{\alpha}} \varphi_{i, \overline{\beta} \overline{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\nabla_{\overline{\tau}} \varphi_i^{\alpha \mathcal{D}_{p-1}}} .$$

Add terms with $\beta \in D_p$ to the first sum on the right-hand side and add terms with $\alpha = \beta$ to the second sum, then the difference remains unchanged and we have

$$\langle \overline{\partial} \varphi, \overline{\partial} \varphi \rangle = c_i^{-1} \sum_{\substack{\overline{\beta}, \overline{\tau} \\ u_p = (a_1, \cdots, d_p) \\ a_1 < \cdots < d_p}} g_i^{\overline{\beta} \overline{\tau}} \nabla_{i, \overline{\beta}} \varphi_{i, \overline{D}_p} \overline{\nabla_{\overline{\tau}}} \varphi_i^{\overline{D}_p}$$

$$- c_i^{-1} \sum_{\substack{\overline{\beta}, \overline{\tau} \\ D_{p^{-1} = (a_1, \cdots, d_{p^{-1}}) \\ a_1 < \cdots < a_{p^{-1}}}} \nabla_{i, \overline{\beta}} \varphi_i, \overline{\tau}_{\overline{D}_{p^{-1}}} \overline{\nabla_{i, \overline{\tau}}} \varphi_i^{\beta D_{p^{-1}}} .$$

We set

$$\langle \overline{\nabla} \varphi, \overline{\nabla} \varphi \rangle = c_i^{-1} \sum_{\substack{D_p \\ d_1 < \cdots < d_p}} \sum_{\beta, \tau} g_i^{\overline{\beta} \tau} \nabla_{\overline{\beta}} \varphi_{i, \overline{D}_p} \overline{\nabla_{\overline{\tau}} \varphi_i^{D_p}}.$$

Then we have

$$\langle \overline{\partial} \varphi, \overline{\partial} \varphi \rangle = \langle \overline{\nabla} \varphi, \overline{\nabla} \varphi \rangle - \sum_{\substack{\beta, \overline{1} \\ \mathcal{D}_{p-1} \\ d_1 < \cdots < d_{p-1}}} \nabla_{i, \overline{\beta}} \varphi_{i, \overline{1}} \overline{\nabla_{i, \overline{1}}} \varphi_{i}^{\beta \mathcal{D}_{p-1}} ,$$

and so

*) =
$$(p-1)! \{\langle \overline{\nabla}\varphi, \overline{\nabla}\varphi \rangle - \langle \overline{\partial}\varphi, \overline{\partial}\varphi \rangle \}.$$

Therefore

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \nabla_{\beta} \xi^{\beta} &= c_{i}^{-1} \sum \nabla_{\bar{\tau}} \nabla_{\beta}^{(c)} \varphi_{i}, {}^{\beta} \bar{p}_{p-1} \overline{\varphi_{i}}^{T D_{p-1}} + *) + **) \\ &= c_{i}^{-1} \sum \nabla_{\bar{\tau}} \nabla_{\bar{\tau}} \nabla_{\beta}^{(c)} \varphi_{i}, {}^{\beta} \bar{p}_{p-1} \overline{\varphi_{i}}^{T D_{p-1}} \\ &+ (p-1)! \{ c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{\substack{D_{p-1} \\ d_{1} < \cdots < d_{p-1}} \sum_{\alpha, \bar{\tau}} (\theta_{i, \bar{\tau}}^{\bar{\alpha}} - R_{i, \bar{\tau}}^{\bar{\alpha}}) \varphi_{i, \bar{\alpha} \bar{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_{i}}^{T D_{p-1}} \\ &+ \langle \overline{\nabla} \varphi, \overline{\nabla} \varphi \rangle - \langle \overline{\partial} \varphi, \overline{\partial} \varphi \rangle \}. \end{split}$$

On the other hand

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \nabla_{\bar{\tau}} \eta^{\bar{\tau}} &= c_{i}^{-1} \sum \left(\nabla_{\bar{\tau}} - \overline{\partial}_{\bar{\tau}} \log c_{i} \right) \nabla_{\beta}^{(c)} \varphi_{i,\beta} \overline{b}_{p-1} \overline{\varphi_{i}^{\tau D_{p-1}}} \\ &+ c_{i}^{-1} \sum \nabla_{\beta}^{(c)} \varphi_{i,\beta} \overline{b}_{p-1} \overline{\nabla_{\tau}} \varphi_{i}^{\tau D_{p-1}} \\ &= c_{i}^{-1} \sum \nabla_{\bar{\tau}} \nabla_{\beta}^{(c)} \varphi_{i,\beta} \overline{b}_{p-1} \overline{\varphi_{i}^{\tau D_{p-1}}} \\ &+ c_{i}^{-1} \sum \nabla_{\beta}^{(c)} \varphi_{i,\beta} \overline{b}_{p-1} \overline{\nabla_{\tau}^{(c)}} \varphi_{i}^{\tau D_{p-1}} . \end{split}$$

Hence

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \nabla_{i} \eta^{\tilde{r}} = c_{i}^{-1} \sum \nabla_{\tilde{r}} \nabla_{\beta}^{(c)} \varphi_{i}{}^{\beta}{}_{\bar{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_{i}}^{T\overline{D}_{p-1}} + (p-1)! \langle \vartheta \varphi, \vartheta \varphi \rangle. \quad (\text{See } (1.28).)$$

Therefore, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \nabla_{\beta} \hat{\xi}^{\beta} - \sum_{\tau=1}^{n} \nabla_{\tau} \eta^{\tau} &= (p-1)! \left\{ c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{\substack{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{D}}_{p-1} \\ \boldsymbol{d}_{1} < \cdots < \boldsymbol{d}_{p-1}}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}, \tau} \left(\theta_{i, \tilde{\tau}}^{\tilde{\alpha}} - R_{i, \tilde{\tau}}^{\tilde{\alpha}} \right) \varphi_{i, \tilde{\alpha} \tilde{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_{i}^{\tau \mathcal{D}_{p-1}}} \right. \\ &+ \left\langle \bar{\nabla} \varphi, \, \bar{\nabla} \varphi \right\rangle - \left\langle \bar{\partial} \varphi, \, \bar{\partial} \varphi \right\rangle - \left\langle \vartheta \varphi, \, \vartheta \varphi \right\rangle \right\}. \end{split}$$

We apply (1.16) of Lemma 1.1 to $\sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \nabla_{\beta} \hat{\xi}^{\beta} - \sum_{\tau=1}^{n} \nabla_{\overline{\tau}} \eta^{\overline{\tau}}$. We have

i)
$$\int_{\mathcal{X}} c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{\substack{\bar{D}_{p-1}\\d_{1} < \cdots < d_{p-1}}} \sum_{\alpha, \tau} \left(\theta_{i, \tilde{\tau}} - R_{i, \tilde{\tau}} \right) \varphi_{i, \bar{\alpha} \bar{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_{i}}^{\tau \bar{D}_{p-1}} dV + \| \overline{\nabla} \varphi \|^{2} - \| \overline{\partial} \varphi \|^{2} - \| \vartheta \varphi \|^{2} = \frac{1}{(p-1)!} \int_{\partial \mathcal{X}} \left(\sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \hat{\varsigma}^{\beta} \partial_{i, \beta} f - \sum_{\tau=1}^{n} \eta^{\tau} \partial_{i, \tilde{\tau}} f \right) dS$$

and

$$\|\overline{
abla} arphi\|^2 = \int_X \langle \overline{
abla} arphi, \overline{
abla} arphi
angle dV.$$

From $\varphi \in B^{0, p}(\overline{X}, F)$, we have

ii)
$$\sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \eta_{i}^{\tau} \partial_{i,\tau} f = (c_{i} | \operatorname{grad} \boldsymbol{\emptyset} |)^{-1} \sum_{\substack{\beta=1\\ \mathcal{D}_{p-1}}}^{n} \nabla_{\beta}^{(c)} \varphi_{i,\beta}_{p_{p-1}} \overline{(\sum_{\tau=1}^{n} \varphi_{i}^{\tau \mathcal{D}_{p-1}} \partial_{i,\tau} \boldsymbol{\emptyset})} = 0 \quad \text{on} \quad \partial X \quad (\operatorname{See} \ (1.25).)$$

and

$$\sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \xi_{i}^{\beta} \partial_{i,\beta} f = (c_{i} | \operatorname{grad} \emptyset|)^{-1} \sum_{\tau=1}^{n} (\sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \nabla_{\overline{\tau}} \varphi_{i}^{\beta} \beta_{p-1} \partial_{i,\beta} \emptyset) \varphi_{i}^{\overline{\tau} D_{p-1}}.$$

While, in a neighborhood of every point of ∂X , for any multi-index $D_{p-1} = (d_1, \dots, d_{p-1})$, there exists a C^{∞} -section $\psi_{\bar{D}_{p-1}}$ of $\Lambda \overline{TM}^*$ such that

$$\sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \varphi_{i}, {}^{\beta}{}_{\bar{D}_{p-1}} \partial_{i,\beta} \Phi = \Phi \psi_{\bar{D}_{p-1}} \,.$$

Since $\sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \varphi_{i,\beta} \partial_{p_{-1}} \partial_{i,\beta} \mathcal{O} = f_{ij} \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \varphi_{j,\beta} \partial_{p_{p_{-1}}} \partial_{j,\beta} \mathcal{O}$ on $U_i \cap U_j \cap W$, where W is the neighborhood of ∂X taken in (1.13), $\varphi_{\bar{D}_{p_{-1}}} = \{\varphi_{i,\bar{D}_{p_{-1}}} = \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \varphi_{i,\beta} \partial_{\bar{D}_{p_{-1}}} \partial_{i,\beta} \mathcal{O}\}$ is an element of $\mathcal{T}_{0,p-1}(W,F)$ for any multi-index $D_{p_{-1}}$. Hence we can operate the covariant differentiation to $\varphi_{\bar{D}_{p_{-1}}}$. Then we have

$$\sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \nabla_{\bar{\imath}} \varphi_{i,\beta} {}^{\beta}{}_{\bar{p}_{-1}} \partial_{i,\beta} \varPhi + \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \varphi_{i,\beta} {}^{\beta}{}_{\bar{p}_{-1}} \partial_{i,\beta} \partial_{i,\bar{\imath}} \varPhi$$
$$= \psi_{\bar{D}_{p-1}} \partial_{i,\bar{\imath}} \varPhi + \varPhi \nabla_{\bar{\imath}} \psi_{\bar{D}_{p-1}} \quad \text{on } W.$$

We multiply it by $\overline{\varphi_i}^{\tau D_{p-1}}$ and sum up with respect to the index γ . Since $\varphi \in B^{0, p}(\overline{X}, F)$, we obtain

$$\sum_{\gamma=1}^{n} \left(\sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \nabla_{\bar{\tau}} \varphi_{i}, {}^{\beta}{}_{\bar{D}_{p-1}} \partial_{\beta} \varPhi \right) \overline{\varphi_{i}}^{\gamma \bar{D}_{p-1}} + \sum_{\beta,\gamma=1}^{n} \partial_{\beta} \partial_{\bar{\tau}} \varPhi \varphi_{i}, {}^{\beta}{}_{\bar{D}_{p-1}} \cdot \overline{\varphi_{i}}^{\gamma \bar{D}_{p-1}} = 0$$

on ∂X . And so

$$\text{iii)} \quad \sum_{\beta=1}^{n} \xi_{i}^{\beta} \partial_{i,\beta} f = -\left(c_{i} | \operatorname{grad} \boldsymbol{\varphi}|\right)^{-1} \sum_{\substack{\beta, \tau=1\\ \mathcal{D}_{p-1}}}^{n} \partial_{\beta} \partial_{\bar{\tau}} \boldsymbol{\varphi} \varphi_{i}^{\beta} \overline{\rho}_{p-1} \overline{\varphi_{i}^{\tau}}^{\overline{\mathcal{D}_{p-1}}}$$

on ∂X .

Finally, from i) ii), and iii), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|\bar{\partial}\varphi\|^{2} + \|\vartheta\phi\|^{2} &= \int_{\vartheta X} (c_{i}|\operatorname{grad} \varPhi|)^{-1} \sum_{\substack{D_{p-1} \\ d_{1} < \cdots < d_{p-1}}} \sum_{\substack{\beta, \tau \\ d_{1} < \cdots < d_{p-1}}} \partial_{\beta} \partial_{\tau} \vartheta \cdot \varphi_{i}{}^{\beta}{}_{\bar{D}_{p-1}} \cdot \overline{\varphi_{i}}{}^{\tau D_{p-1}} dS \\ &+ \|\bar{\nabla}\varphi\|^{2} + \int_{X} c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{\substack{D_{p-1} \\ d_{1} < \cdots < d_{p-1}}} \sum_{\substack{\alpha, \tau \\ d_{i}, \tau \end{pmatrix}} (\theta_{i, \tau} - R_{i, \tau}) \varphi_{i, \overline{\alpha} \overline{D}_{p-1}} \cdot \overline{\varphi_{i}}{}^{\tau D_{p-1}} dV \end{split}$$

for any $\varphi \in B^{0, p}(\overline{X}, F)$. Q.E.D.

Remark 1.3 Dr. A. Fujiki has pointed out that the equality of Proposition 1.5 had already been obtained by P. Griffiths in [14], p. 429, Theorem 7.2 and recently, the author noticed that A. Andreotti and E. Vesentini also had obtained some inequality for the elements of $B^{p,q}(\overline{X}, F)$ in [6]. In their formulae, the base metric ds^2 need not to be a Kähler metric.

§ 1.2. Identity of Weak and Strong Extensions of $\bar{\partial}$ -Operator and Its Formal Adjoint ϑ

Let X be a relatively compact domain with smooth boundary on a complex manifold M and let $F \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ be a holomorphic line bundle on M. We fix a hermitian metric $d\sigma^2$ on M and a hermitian metric $\{a_i\}$ along the fibres of F. We use notations $\|, \|, \|, \|, \|_{\mathcal{V}}, \vartheta$ and $\vartheta_{\mathcal{V}}$ and so on as in Section 1.1 with respect to $d\sigma^2$, $\{a_i\}$ and $\Psi \in C^{0,0}(\overline{X})$.

Let $L^{p,q}(X, F)$ (resp. $L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$) be the completion of $C_0^{p,q}(\overline{X}, F)$ with respect to the norm ||, || (resp. $||, ||_{\Psi}$). Then, since ||, || and $||, ||_{\Psi}$ are equivalent on X, $L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$ coincides as a topological vector space with $L^{p,q}(X, F)$. In other words, $L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$ is the Hilbert space with $L^{p,q}(X, F)$ as the underlying space and $(,)_{\Psi}$ as the inner product. Thus $L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$ is understood as the pair $\{L^{p,q}(X, F), (,)_{\Psi}\}$.

Let $\overline{\partial}: L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi) \to L^{p,q+1}(X, F, \Psi)$ be the maximal closed extension of the original $\overline{\partial}$ and let $\vartheta_{\Psi}: L^{p,q+1}(X, F, \Psi) \to L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$ be the maximal closed extension of the original ϑ_{Ψ} i.e. when we represent the domain of $\overline{\partial}$ (resp. ϑ_{Ψ}) by $D^{p,q}_{\overline{\partial}}$ (resp. $D^{p,q}_{\vartheta_{\Psi}}$),

(1.31) i) $\varphi \in D^{p,q}_{\hat{\sigma}} \subset L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$ if and only if there exists an element $u \in L^{p,q+1}(X, F, \Psi)$ such that $(\vartheta_{\Psi}\psi, \varphi)_{\Psi} = (\psi, u)_{\Psi}$ for every $\psi \in C^{p,q+1}_{0}(X, F)$,

ii) $\varphi \in D^{p,q}_{\mathfrak{F}_{\mathbb{F}}} \subset L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$ if and only if there exists an element $v \in L^{p,q-1}(X, F, \Psi)$ such that $(\bar{\partial}\psi, \varphi)_{\mathbb{F}} = (\psi, v)_{\mathbb{F}}$ for every $\psi \in C^{p,q-1}_{0}(X, F)$.

Let $L^{p,q}(M, F)$ (resp. $L^{p,q}(M, F, \Psi)$) be the completion of

 $C_0^{p,q}(M,F)$ with respect to the norm ||, || (resp. $||, ||_{\mathcal{V}}$). Then diffrential operators $\overline{\partial}$ and $\vartheta_{\mathcal{V}}$ in $L^{\cdot,\cdot}(M,F,\mathcal{V})$ are defined similarly.

From (1.23), we have $C_{\bar{\partial}}^{p,q}(X,F) \subset D_{\bar{\partial}}^{p,q} \cap D_{\bar{\partial}_{T}}^{p,q}$. Hence $\bar{\partial}$ and $\vartheta_{\overline{Y}}$ defined as above are, in the weak sense, closed densely defined operators. Next we consider the closure of the graph of $\bar{\partial}: C^{p,q}(\overline{X},F) \to C^{p,q+1}(\overline{X},F)$ in $L^{p,q}(X,F,\Psi) \times L^{p,q+1}(X,F,\Psi)$. Then, from the general theory of linear operators in Hilbert spaces (cf. [46], p. 70, Theorem 4.15), there exists a unique linear operator $T: L^{p,q}(X,F,\Psi) \to L^{p,q+1}(X,F,\Psi)$ such that i) the graph G(T) of T is equal to the closure of the graph of $\bar{\partial}|_{C^{p,q}(\overline{X},F)}$, ii) the domain $D_T^{p,q}$ of T in $L^{p,q}(X,F,\Psi)$ is the image of G(T) by the projection to the first factor.

Remark 1.4. Since $L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$ coincides with $L^{p,q}(X, F)$ as a topological vector space) for any $\Psi \in C^{0,0}(\overline{X})$, T is determined independently of Ψ . T is called the closure of $\overline{\partial}|_{C^{p,q}(\overline{X},F)}$.

Since $C_0^{p,q}(X, F)$ is contained in D_T , T is a closed densely defined operator and from ii) it is clear that

(1.32) $\varphi \in D_T^{p,q}$ if and only if there exists a sequence $\{\varphi_n\}$ of $C^{p,q}(\overline{X}, F)$ such that $\|\varphi_n - \varphi\|_{\mathbb{F}}^2$ and $\|T\varphi_n - T\varphi\|_{\mathbb{F}}^2$ tend to zero as $n \to +\infty$.

Since $D_T^{p,q}$ is dense in $L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$, if for a given $g \in L^{p,q+1}(X, F, \Psi)$, there exists an element $g^* \in L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$ such that $(T\varphi, g)_{\Psi} = (\varphi, g^*)_{\Psi}$ for any $\varphi \in D_T^{p,q}, g^*$ is uniquely determined by g. Hence the adjoint operator T_{Ψ}^* : $L^{p,q+1}(X, F, \Psi) \to L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$ is determined by $T_{\Psi}^*g = g^*$. Then from (1.32), we have

(1.33) g is contained in the domain $D_{T_{\Psi}}^{p,q+1}$ of T_{Ψ}^{*} if and only if there exists a positive constant C such that $|(\bar{\partial}\varphi,g)_{\Psi}| \leq C ||\varphi||_{\Psi}$ for any $\varphi \in C^{p,q}(\overline{X},F)$.

Since $C_0^{p,q+1}(X, F)$ is contained in $D_{T_F}^{p,q+1}$, T_F^* is a closed densely defined operator. Hence it holds that $T_F^{**} = T$ (see [46], p. 90, Theorem 5.3) and moreover, from Lemma 1.3 and (1.32), we have

REPRESENTATION THEOREM OF COHOMOLOGY

(1.34)
$$C^{p,q}(\overline{X},F) \cap D^{p,q}_{T^*_{\overline{P}}} = B^{p,q}(\overline{X},F) \quad and$$
$$T^*_{\overline{P}} = \vartheta_{\overline{V}} \quad on \quad B^{p,q}(\overline{X},F).$$

Similarly, we can consider the adjoint operator $\overline{\partial}_{F}^{*}$ of the maximal closed extension $\overline{\partial}$, then we have

(1.35) h is contained in the domain $D^{p,q+1}_{\delta_{\mathbb{F}}^{p}}$ of $\overline{\partial}_{\mathbb{F}}^{*}$ if and only if there exists a positive constant C such that $|(\overline{\partial}\varphi,h)_{\mathbb{F}}| \leq C ||\varphi||_{\mathbb{F}}$ for any $\varphi \in D^{p,q}_{\delta}$.

Hence $\bar{\partial}_{F}^{*}$ is a closed densely defined operator and so $\bar{\partial}_{F}^{**} = \bar{\partial}$. Tand $\bar{\partial}_{F}^{*}$ are called the minimal (or strong) extensions of the original $\bar{\partial}$ and its formal adjoint ϑ_{F} . From (1.31), (1.32), (1.33) and (1.35), we have

(1.36) $D_T^{p,q} \subset D_{\tilde{\sigma}}^{p,q}$ and $D_{\tilde{\sigma}_T}^{p,q} \subset D_{T_T}^{p,q} \subset D_{\mathfrak{F}_T}^{p,q}$ in $L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$ for any $\Psi \in C^{0,0}(\overline{X})$.

Remark 1.5. If T is the closure of $\bar{\partial}|_{C_{\theta}^{p,q}(X,F)}$, it holds that $T_{\Psi}^{*} = \vartheta_{\Psi}$ and $\bar{\partial}_{\Psi}^{*}$ is the closure of $\vartheta_{\Psi}|_{C_{\theta}^{p,q+1}(X,F)}$.

The following Proposition is due to Hörmander [17] Propositions 1.2.3 and 1.2.4 which summarize results of [10], [16] and [30].

Proposition 1.6. i) If $v \in D^{p,q}_{\partial F} \subset L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$ and $\operatorname{supp} v$, $\operatorname{supp} \vartheta_{\Psi} v \subseteq X$, then $v|_{X} \in D^{p,q}_{\delta \oplus} \subset L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$ i.e. $(\vartheta_{\Psi} v)|_{X} = \overline{\partial}_{\Psi}^{*}(v|_{X})$ in $L^{p,q-1}(X, F, \Psi)$.

ii) $C^{p,q}(\overline{X}, F)$ is dense in $D^{p,q}_{\overline{\delta}}$ with respect to the graph norm $(\|, \|^2_{\overline{F}} + \|\overline{\partial}, \|^2_{\overline{F}})^{1/2}$.

iii) $B^{p,q}(\overline{X},F)$ is dense in $D^{p,q}_{T^{p}_{F}}$ (resp. $D^{p,q}_{\overline{\delta}} \cap D^{p,q}_{T^{p}_{F}}$) with respect to the graph norm $(\|,\|^{2}_{T}+\|\vartheta_{T},\|^{2}_{T})^{1/2}$ (resp. $(\|,\|^{2}_{T}+\|\overline{\partial},\|^{2}_{T}+\|\vartheta_{T},\|^{2}_{T})^{1/2}$).

As a consequence of Proposition 1.6, we have the following.

Proposition 1.7. i) $D_T^{p,q} = D_{\bar{\partial}}^{p,q}$ in $L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$ i.e. $T = \bar{\partial}$

ii) $D^{p,q}_{\bar{\delta}_{\overline{F}}} = D^{p,q}_{T_{\overline{F}}}$ in $L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$ i.e. $T_{\overline{F}}^* = \bar{\delta}_{\overline{F}}^*$ iii) $\bar{\delta}_{\overline{F}}^* (=T_{\overline{F}}^*)$ is the restriction of the maximal closed extension $\vartheta_{\overline{F}}$ to $D^{p,q}_{\bar{\delta}_{\overline{F}}}$. iv) $D^{p,q}_{\bar{\delta}_{\overline{F}}} = D^{p,q}_{\bar{\delta}_{\overline{F}}}$ in $L^{p,q}(X, F)$ for any $\Psi \in C^{0,0}(\overline{X})$.

Proof. i), ii) and iii) follow from (1.32), (1.33), (1.35), (1.36)and Proposition 1.6 ii), iii) immediately. From (1.34), it holds that $C^{p,q}(\overline{X},F) \cap D^{p,q}_{\delta^{\frac{p}{2}}} = C^{p,q}(\overline{X},F) \cap D^{p,q}_{\delta^{\ast}}$ for any $\Psi \in C^{0,0}(\overline{X})$. Hence, by Proposition 1.6 iii), we obtain iv). Q.E.D.

We denote the range and nullity of $\overline{\partial}$ in $L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi)$ by $R^{p,q}_{\overline{\partial}}$ and $N^{p,q}_{\overline{\partial}}$ respectively. $R^{p,q}_{\overline{\partial}}$ and $N^{p,q}_{\overline{\partial}}$ are defined similarly. We set

$$N^{p,q}_{\Psi} = N^{p,q}_{\bar{\delta}} \cap N^{p,q}_{\bar{\delta}^{\Psi}} \quad \text{in} \quad L^{p,q}(X, F, \Psi).$$

§1.3. Basic Fact from Functional Analysis and Application

Let $(H_i, ||, ||_i)$ (i=1, 2, 3) be Hilbert spaces and let $H_1 \xrightarrow{T} H_2 \xrightarrow{S} H_3$ be closed densely defined operators satisfying $S \circ T = 0$, We denote the adjoint operator of T (resp. S) by T^* (resp. S^*). Then, as mentioned in Section 1.2, T^* and S^* are also closed densely defined operators and satisfy $T = T^{**}$ and $S = S^{**}$. We use notations D_T , R_T and N_T etc. as defined in Section 1.2.

Proposition 1.8 (cf. [17], Theorems 1.1.1 and 1.1.2 and [25], p. 210-p. 216). A necessary and sufficient condition for R_T and R_{S^*} both to be closed is that there exists a positive constant C such that

(1.37) $||f||_2^2 \leq C \{ ||Sf||_3^2 + ||T^*f||_1^2 \text{ for any } f \in D_s \cap D_{T^*} \}$

and that f is orthogonal to the space $N = N_s \cap N_{T^*}$. When this is the case, we have the strong orthogonal decomposition of H_2

$$(1.38) H_2 \cong R_T \oplus N \oplus R_{S^*}.$$

Furthermore, the operator $L = TT^* + S^*S$ whose domain is $D_L = \{f \in D_S \cap D_{T^*}: Sf \in D_{S^*} \text{ and } T^*f \in D_T\}$, is self-adjoint and has a closed range in H_2 . And (1.38) can be written more explicitly.

(1.39) $H_2 \cong R_{TT^4} \bigoplus N \bigoplus R_{S^*S} \text{ where } R_T = R_{TT^*} \text{ and } R_{S^*} = R_{S^*S}.$

Remark 1.6. From the definition of D_L , the nullity of the operator L is equal to $N = N_S \cap N_{T^*}$.

Proposition 1.9 (cf. [17], Theorem 1.1.3). Assume that from every sequence $f_k \in D_s \cap D_{T^*}$ with $||f_k||_2$ bounded and $||T^*f_k||_1^2 \rightarrow 0$ in $H_1, ||Sf_k||_3^2 \rightarrow 0$ in H_3 as $k \rightarrow +\infty$. one can select a strongly convergent subsequence. Then (1.37) holds and N is finite dimensional.

Proposition 1.10 (cf. [17], Theorem 1.1.4). Let P be a closed linear subspace of H_2 containing R_T . Assume that there exists a positive constant C such that

 $(1.40) ||f||_2^2 \leq C \{ ||Sf||_3^2 + ||T^*f||_1^2 \} for any f \in D_s \cap T_{T^*} \cap P.$

Then i) for every $g \in P$ satisfying Sg = 0, there exists $h \in D_r \subset H_1$ such that Th = g,

ii) R_{T^*} is closed in H_1 and for every $g \in R_{T^*}$ there exists $h \in D_{T^*} \subset H_2$ such that $T^*h = g$ and $\|h\|_2^2 \leq C \|g\|_1^2$.

Let M, X and F be as in Section 1.2.

Proposition 1.11.

I) If there exist in the degree (p, q)

1) a hermitian metric ds^2 on M and a hermitian metric $\{c_i\}$ along the fibres of F,

2) a positive constant C_1 ,

and

(1.41) $\|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{X}\setminus\mathcal{K}}^2 \leq C_1 \{\|\overline{\partial}\varphi\|^2 + \|\overline{\partial}^*\varphi\|^2 + \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{K}}^2\}$

for any $\varphi \in D^{p,q}_{\bar{\delta}} \cap D^{p,q}_{\bar{\delta}^*} \subset L^{p,q}(X,F)$, then

- i) $\dim_{\mathcal{C}} N^{p,q} < +\infty$
- ii) $L^{p,q}(X,F) \cong R^{p,q}_{\hat{\delta}\hat{\delta}^*} \bigoplus N^{p,q} \bigoplus R^{p,q}_{\hat{\delta}^*\hat{\delta}}.$

II) If there exist in the degree (p,q)

1) a hermitian metric ds^2 on M and a hermitian metric $\{c_i\}$ along the fibres of F.

2) a positive constant C_1 ,

3) a proper compact subset K of X, which does not contain any connected component of X, such that

(1.42) $\|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{X}\setminus \mathcal{K}}^2 \leq C_1 \{\|\bar{\partial}\varphi\|^2 + \|\bar{\partial}^*\varphi\|^2\}$

for any $\varphi \in D^{p,q}_{\delta} \cap D^{p,q}_{\delta^*} \subset L^{p,q}(X, F)$, then there exists a positive constant C_2 such that

(1.43)
$$\|\varphi\|^2 \leq C_2 \{\|\overline{\partial}\varphi\|^2 + \|\overline{\partial}^*\varphi\|^2\}$$

for any $\varphi \in D^{p,q}_{\overline{\partial}} \cap D^{p,q}_{\overline{\partial}^{4}} \subset L^{p,q}(X,F)$.

Proof. Take any sequence $\{\varphi_m\}_{m\geq 1}$ such that $\varphi_m \in D^{p,q}_{\bar{\delta}} \cap D^{p,q}_{\bar{\delta}}$, $\|\varphi_m\|^2 \leq 1$ and $\|\bar{\partial}\varphi_m\|^2$, $\|\bar{\partial}^*\varphi_m\|^2 \to 0$ as $m \to +\infty$. Then we assert that there exists a subsequence $\{\varphi_{m_k}\}$ of $\{\varphi_m\}$ which converges strongly on X. From Proposition 1.6 iii), we may assume $\varphi_m \in B^{p,q}(\bar{X}, F)$. Let χ be a C^{∞} -function on M with compact support in X and $\chi \equiv 1$ on K. Since $\chi \varphi_m \in C^{p,q}_{\delta}(X, F)$, we have that

$$egin{aligned} & (ar{\partial} \left(\chi arphi_m
ight), ar{\partial} \left(\chi arphi_m
ight)
ight) + \left(artheta \left(\chi arphi_m
ight), artheta \left(\chi arphi_m
ight)
ight) + \left(\chi arphi_m
ight)
ight) + \left(\chi arphi_m, \chi arphi_m
ight) \ & = \left(oggin{aligned} & (\chi arphi_m), \chi arphi_m
ight) + (\chi arphi_m, \chi arphi_m)
ight) + (\chi arphi_m, \chi arphi_m) \ & (\chi arphi_m), \chi arphi_m
ight) + (\chi arphi_m, \chi arphi_m) \ & (\chi arphi_m), \chi arphi_m)
ight) + (\chi arphi_m, \chi arphi_m) \ & (\chi arphi_m), \chi arphi_m)
ight) + (\chi arphi_m, \chi arphi_m) \ & (\chi arphi_m), \chi arphi_m)
ight)
ight) = \left(igcap_m arphi_m arphi$$

is bounded by the assumption. From coerciveness of elliptic differential operator $\Box = \overline{\partial} \vartheta + \vartheta \overline{\partial}$ on $C_0^{p,q}(X,F)$ (see for example [9], (2.2.1) Theorem) and Rellich's lemma (see for example [9], Appendix (A. 1.6) Proposition and p. 122, 2 Sobolev norms on manifolds), it follows that $\{\varphi_m\}$ has a sequence $\{\varphi_{m_k}\}$ which is strongly convergent on the compact subset K of X. By (1.41), we conclude that $\{\varphi_{m_k}\}$ converges strongly on X. Therefore we can apply Propositions 1.8 and 1.9 for $H_i = L^{p,q+i-2}$ (X, F) $(i=1, 2, 3), S = \overline{\partial}$ and $T^* = \overline{\partial}^*$. Hence we obtain i) and ii) of I).

In the case of II), the same assertion of I) holds. In particular, from Propositions 1.8 and 1.9, we have that there exists a constant

 $C_2 \ge 0$ such that

(1.44)
$$\|\varphi\|^2 \leq C_2 \{\|\bar{\partial}\varphi\|^2 + \|\bar{\partial}^*\varphi\|^2\}$$

for any $\varphi \in D^{p,q}_{\delta} \cap D^{p,q}_{\delta}$ with $\varphi \perp N^{p,q}$, while, each element φ in $N^{p,q}$ is a solution of the Laplace-Beltrami operator $\Box = \overline{\partial} \vartheta + \vartheta \overline{\partial}$. Namely φ is a harmonic form with valued in F. In general, when E is a hermitian vector bundle over a connected complex hermitian manifold M, a harmonic form $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}^{p,q}(E)$ vanishes identically on M if it vanishes on a non-empty open subset of M (cf. [7], [38]). Now, from (1.42), φ vanishes identically on $X \setminus K$. Since any connected component of X is not contained in K, by the above unique continuation property, φ vanishes on each connected component and so φ vanishes identically on X. Hence $N^{p,q}$ is the null space. Combining this with (1.44), the proof is completed.

Remark 1.7. Since, from Proposition 1.7, $L = \overline{\partial}\overline{\partial}^* + \overline{\partial}^*\overline{\partial}$ is the restriction of the Laplace-Beltrami operator $\Box = \overline{\partial}\vartheta + \vartheta\overline{\partial}$ to the domain of L, $N^{p,q}$ may not coincide with the space of all harmonic forms in $L^{p,q}(X, F)$.

Chapter II. Cohomology Groups on Domains with Pseudoconvex Boundaries

§ 2.1. Definitions

Let X be a relatively compact domain with boundary ∂X on a complex manifold M of complex dimension n.

Definition 2.1. X is said to be a domain with pseudoconvex boundary ∂X if for any point p of ∂X , there exist a neighborhood U of p and a real valued C^{∞} -function λ on U such that i) $U \cap X = \{x \in U \mid \lambda(x) < 0\}$, ii) the gradient of λ nowhere vanishes on $\partial X \cap U$, iii) the complex Hessian of λ is positive semi-definite when restricted to the complex tangent space of $\partial X \cap U$. Remak 2.1. The relation between the above definition and other ones is the following.

The next three conditions are equivalent to one another:
I) X is a domain with pseudoconvex boundary ∂X.
II) There exist a neighborhood W of ∂X and a real valued C[∞]-function

Outline of the proof. We can show I) \Rightarrow II) easily (see [15], the proof of p. 263, 4. Proposition). For II) \Rightarrow III), since III) is a local property, we may assume that W=U is an open ball centered at the origin of \mathbb{C}^n and the boundary $B = \{x \in U | \emptyset(x) = 0\}$ contains the origin and satisfies the property of II). Then the Euclidean metric function d(x) from $x \in \{\emptyset < 0\}$ to B is $\mathbb{C}^{\circ\circ}$ near the boundary B by the implicit function theorem and moreover, from [18], Theorems 2.6.7 and 2.6.12, $-\log d$ is $\mathbb{C}^{\circ\circ}$ -plurisubharmonic on $V_{\varepsilon} \cap \{\emptyset < 0\}$, where $V_{\varepsilon} = \{|z|^2 < \varepsilon\}$ is an open ball contained in U. Then we may assume that $-\log d \ge 0$. Hence $1/(\varepsilon - |z|^2) - \log d$ is a $\mathbb{C}^{\circ\circ}$ -strictly plurisubharmonic exhaustion function on $V_{\varepsilon} \cap \{\emptyset < 0\}$ and so $V_{\varepsilon} \cap \{\emptyset < 0\}$ is Stein. If X is locally Stein, III) \Rightarrow I) is due to E. E. Levi (see [15], p. 264, 1. Proposition).

Let $ds^2 = \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^n g_{i,\alpha\beta} dz_i^{\alpha} d\overline{z}_i^{\beta}$ be a hermitian metric on M and let $\sigma = \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^n \theta_{i,\alpha\beta} dz_i^{\alpha} \wedge d\overline{z}_i^{\beta}$ be a C^{∞} -(1,1) form on M whose matrix of coefficients $\theta_{i,\alpha\beta}$ is a hermitian matrix. We set

(2.1) $G_i = (g_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}}) \text{ and } \theta_i = (\theta_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}}).$

If J_{ij} are the transition functions $\left(\frac{\partial z_i^{\alpha}}{\partial z_j^{\beta}}\right)$ of the tangent bundle TM, then on $U_i \cap U_j$, $G_i = {}^{i}J_{ji}G_j\overline{J}_{ji}$ and $\Theta_i = {}^{i}J_{ji}\Theta_j\overline{J}_{ji}$ so that the coefficients of the characteristic polynomial det $(G_i^{-1}\Theta_i - \lambda E)$ are $C^{\circ\circ}$ -functions on M. The eigenvalues of $G_1^{-1}\Theta_i$ at each point x are real, let them be REPRESENTATION THEOREM OF COHOMOLOGY

(2.2)
$$\varepsilon_1(x) \geq \varepsilon_2(x) \geq \cdots \geq \varepsilon_n(x)$$

so that each ε_{α} is a real valued continuous function on M.

Definition 2.2. A holomorphic line bundle $F \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ is said to be *q-positive* (resp. *q-semi-positive*) with respect to a given hermitian metric ds^2 on a subset Y of M if there exist a coordinate cover $\{U_i\}_{i\in I}$ such that $\pi^{-1}(U_i)$ are trivial and a hermitian metric $\{a_i\}$ along the fibres of F such that for $G_i = (g_{i,\alpha\beta})$ and $\Theta_i = \left(\frac{\partial^2 \log a_i}{\partial z_i^{\alpha} \partial \overline{z}_i^{\beta}}\right)$, $\varepsilon_{n-q+1}(x) + n \inf(0, \varepsilon_n(x))$ is positive (resp. non-negative) on Y.

Here $\varepsilon_{\alpha}(x)$ should be understood as in (2, 2).

Remark 2.2. If F is q-positive (resp. q-semi-positive) with respect to ds^2 on Y, $G_i^{-1}\Theta_i$ has at least n-q+1 positive (resp. non-negative) eigenvalues on Y. In particular, if F is 1-positive (resp. 1-semi-positive) with respect to ds^2 on Y, the hermitian matrix Θ_i is positive-definite (resp. positive semi-definite) on Y. Since the inverse is true for any hermitian metric ds^2 , we say simply that F is positive (resp. semipositive) on Y instead that F is 1-positive (resp. 1-semi-positive).

§ 2.2. Basic Estimates

Let X be a (connected) relatively compact domain with smooth boundary ∂X and let $F \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ be a holomorphic line bundle on M. Let K_M be the canonical line bundle on M. We set a Kähler metric ds^2 on M

(2.3)
$$ds^{2} = \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{n} g_{i,\alpha\overline{\beta}} dz_{i}^{\alpha} d\overline{z}_{i}^{\beta}$$

and a hermitian metric of F and its curvature tensor

(2.4)
$$\begin{cases} \{u_i\} \\ \\ \theta_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\bar{\beta}} \log a_i \end{cases},$$

Then, from (1, 21),

(2.5)
$$\{c_i = a_i \cdot g_i\} \text{ where } g_i = \det(g_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}})$$

is a hermitian metric of $F \otimes K_{\mathcal{N}}$. With respect to (2.3) and (2.4), an inner product (,) and a norm ||, || are defined as in Section 1.1. Since the curvature tensor of $\{c_i\}$ is the sum of $\theta_i = (\theta_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}})$ and the Ricci curvature with respect to (2.3), we have from Proposition 1.5

$$(2.6) \qquad \|\partial\varphi\|^2 + \|\partial\varphi\|^2 \\ = \int_{\partial X} (c_i |\operatorname{grad} \varphi|)^{-1} \sum_{\substack{D_{p-1} = (d_1, \cdots, d_{p-1}) \\ d_1 < \cdots < d_{p-1}}} \sum_{\substack{\beta, \tau = 1 \\ \beta, \tau = 1}}^n \partial_\beta \partial_{\overline{\tau}} \varphi \varphi_{i,\beta} \overline{\rho_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_i}^{\tau D_{p-1}} dS \\ + \|\overline{\nabla}\varphi\|^2 + \int_X c_i^{-1} \sum_{\substack{D_{p-1} = (d_1, \cdots, d_{p-1}) \\ d_1 < \cdots < d_{p-1}}} \sum_{\substack{\alpha, \tau = 1 \\ \alpha, \tau = 1}}^n \theta_{i,\overline{\tau}} \varphi_{i,\overline{\alpha}\overline{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_i}^{\tau D_{p-1}} dV$$

for any $\varphi \in B^{0, p}(X, F \otimes K_X)$.

Proposition 2.1. Let X be a (connected) relatively compact domain with the pseudoconvex boundary ∂X on a complex manifold M and let $F \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ be a holomorphic line bundle on M.

I) If there exists a Kähler metric $d\sigma^2$ on a neighborhood W of ∂X and $F \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ is q-positive with respect to $d\sigma^2$ on W, then there exist a proper compact subset K_1 of X and a positive constant C_1 such that

(2.7)
$$\|\varphi\|_{X\setminus K_1}^2 \leq C_1 \{ \|\bar{\partial}\varphi\|^2 + \|\bar{\partial}^*\varphi\|^2 + \|\varphi\|_{K_1}^2 \}$$
for any $\varphi \in D^{0,p}_{\bar{\partial}} \cap D^{0,p}_{\bar{\partial}^*} \subset L^{0,p}(X, F \otimes K_M)$ and $p \geq q$.

II) If M is provided with a Kähler metric ds^2 and $F \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ is q-semipositive with respect to ds^2 on a neighborhood V of $\overline{X} = X \cup \partial X$ and q-positive with respect to ds^2 on $V \setminus K$, where K is a proper cmpact subset of X, then there exist a proper compact subset K_2 of X with $K \subset \text{Int } K_2$ and a positive constant C_2 such that

(2.8)
$$\|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{X}\setminus K_{2}}^{2} \leq C_{2}\{\|\bar{\partial}\varphi\|^{2}+\|\bar{\partial}^{*}\varphi\|^{2}\}$$
for any $\varphi \in D_{\bar{\partial}}^{0,p} \cap D_{\bar{\partial}}^{0,p} \subset L^{0,p}(X, F \otimes K_{M})$ and $p \geq q$.

Proof. We prove II) first. Let $\{a_i\}$ be the hermitian metric of F with respect to the covering $\{U_i\}_{i\in I}$ of M corresponding to the assumption. To obtain the required estimate, by Proposition 1.6 iii), it suffices to show that the estimate holds for any element of $B^{0,p}(\overline{X}, F \otimes K_N)$. From Remark 2.1 II), there exists a defining C^{∞} -function Φ for ∂X

such that the complex Hessian of \mathcal{O} is positive semi-definite when restricted to the complex tangent space of ∂X . Hence, by using notations (2.3), (2.4) and (2.5), it follows that the first term of the right-hand side of (2.6) is non-negative. Hence we have

(2.9)
$$\int_{X} c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{\substack{p_{-1}=(d_{1},\cdots,d_{p-1})\\d_{1}<\cdots< d_{p-1}}} \sum_{\alpha,\overline{i}=1}^{n} \Theta_{i,\overline{i}} \varphi_{i,\overline{\alpha}\overline{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_{i}}^{T\overline{D}_{p-1}} dV$$
$$\leq \|\overline{\partial}\varphi\|^{2} + \|\overline{\partial}^{*}\varphi\|^{2} \quad \text{for any} \quad \varphi \in B^{0,p}(\overline{X}, F \otimes K_{M})$$

Let $\{\varepsilon_{\alpha}\}_{1 \leq \alpha \leq n}$ be the eigenvalues of $G_i^{-1} \Theta_i$, where $G_i = (g_{i, \alpha \bar{\beta}})$, and choose a system of local coordinates (z_i^1, \dots, z_i^n) around $x_0 \in X$ as follows:

(2.10)
$$G_i(x_0) = (\delta_{\alpha\beta}) \text{ and } \Theta_i(x_0) = (\varepsilon_\alpha(x_0) \delta_{\alpha\beta}).$$

By the assumption, for a suitable proper compact subset K_2 of X satisfying $K \subset \text{Int } K_2$, there exists a positive constant κ , independent of the choice of $x_0 \in X \setminus K_2$, satisfying

(2.11)
$$\varepsilon_{n-q+1}(x_0) + n \inf(0, \varepsilon_n(x_0)) \geq \kappa > 0.$$

We apply (2.10) and (2.11) to (2.9), then at $x_0 \in X \setminus K_2$

(2.12)
$$\sum_{\substack{D_{\rho-1}=(d_1,\cdots,d_{p-1})\\d_1<\cdots< d_{p-1}}} \sum_{\alpha,\tau=1}^n \theta_{i,\overline{\tau}} \varphi_{i,\overline{\alpha}\overline{D}_{\rho-1}} \overline{\varphi_i}^{\tau D_{p-1}}}$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{d_1<\cdots< d_{p-1}\\d_1<\cdots< d_{p-1}}} \sum_{\alpha=1}^n \varepsilon_\alpha(x_0) |\varphi_{i,\overline{\alpha}\overline{D}_{p-1}}|^2$$
$$\geq \varepsilon_{n-q+1}(x^0) \sum_{\substack{d_1<\cdots< d_{p-1}\\\alpha=1}} \sum_{\alpha=1}^n |\varphi_{i,\overline{\alpha}\overline{D}_{p-1}}|^2$$
$$+ \inf(0, \varepsilon_n(x_0)) \sum_{\substack{d_1<\cdots< d_{p-1}\\\alpha=1}} \sum_{\alpha=n-q+2}^n |\varphi_{i,\overline{\alpha}\overline{D}_{p-1}}|^2.$$

If $p \ge q$, then $p+n-q+1 \ge n+1$, thus any block D_p of p-indices taken from $\{1, 2, \dots, n\}$ must contain one of the indices $\{1, 2, \dots, n-q+1\}$ i.e., one of the indices corresponding to the positive eigenvalues $\varepsilon_1(x_0), \dots, \varepsilon_{n-q+1}(x_0)$. Then we have

$$\sum_{d_1 < \cdots < d_{p-1}} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-q+1} |\varphi_{i,\overline{\alpha}\overline{D}_{p-1}}|^2 \ge \sum_{d_1 < \cdots < d_p} |\varphi_{i,\overline{D}_p}|^2$$

(2.13) and

$$u \sum_{d_1 < \cdots < d_p} |\varphi_{i,\bar{D}_p}|^2 \geq \sum_{d_1 < \cdots < d_{p-1}} \sum_{\alpha = n-q+2}^n |\varphi_{i,\bar{\alpha}\bar{D}_{p-1}}|^2.$$

Hence, from (2.11), (2.12) and (2.13), we have

(2.14)
$$\sum_{\substack{d_1 < \dots < d_{p-1} \\ d_1 < \dots < d_p}} \sum_{i, \bar{\tau}=1}^n \theta_{i, \bar{\tau}}^{\bar{x}} \varphi_{i, \bar{x}\bar{D}_{p-1}} \overline{\varphi_i^{\tau D_{p-1}}}$$
$$\geq \kappa \sum_{\substack{d_1 < \dots < d_p}} |\varphi_{i, \bar{D}_p}|^2 \quad \text{at} \quad x_0 \in X \setminus K_2$$

Since $\varepsilon_{n-q+1} + n \inf(0, \varepsilon_n) \ge 0$ on K_2 , from (2.9) and (2.14), if we take $C_2 = 1/\kappa$, we obtain

$$\|\varphi\|_{X\setminus K_2}^2 \leq C_2 \{\|\overline{\partial}\varphi\|^2 + \|\overline{\partial}^*\varphi\|^2\}$$

for any $\varphi \in B^{0,p}(\overline{X}, F \otimes K_{\mathcal{N}})$ with $p \ge q$. This completes the proof of II).

Next we prove I). From the assumption and Remark 2.1 II), we may assume that there exists a neighborhood W of ∂X such that i) the gradient of the defining function \mathcal{O} nowhere vanishes on W, ii) there exists a Kähler metric $d\sigma^2$ on W, iii) there exist a coordinate cover $\{U_i\}_{i \in I}$ of M, for which $\pi^{-1}(U_i)$ are trivial and $U_i \subsetneq W$ if $U_i \cap \partial X \neq \emptyset$, and a hermitian metric $\{a_i\}$ of F satisfying the q-positivity with respect to $d\sigma^2$ on W. Hence by the same reason as in the proof of II), we have only to show the required estimate for elements of $B^{0,p}(\overline{X}, F \otimes K_M)$. Take neighborhoods W_i (i=1,2,3) of ∂X with $\partial X \subset W_s \subset W_2 \subset W_1 \subset W$. We may assume that $M = W_1 \cup X$. Then we take a hermitian metric ds^2

(2.15)
$$ds^2 = \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{n} g_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}} dz_i^{\alpha} d\bar{z}_i^{\beta}$$

on *M*. such that $ds^2 = d\sigma^2$ on W_1 .

We take a C^{∞} -real valued function χ on M such that i) $\chi \equiv 1$ on $(M \setminus \overline{X}) \cup W_3$, ii) supp $\chi \subset W_2$. Then, for any $\varphi \in B^{p,q}(\overline{X}, F \otimes K_M)$, $\chi \varphi$ is again contained in $B^{p,q}(\overline{X}, F \otimes K_M)$ and supp $\chi \varphi$ is contained in W_1 . We set

$$K_1 = X \setminus (X \cap W_s).$$

Since the metric ds^2 is Kähler on W_1 , from (1.16)' of Remark 1.1, the equation (2.6) holds for elements $\chi \varphi$, where $\varphi \in B^{0,p}(\overline{X}, F \otimes K_M)$. Hence by using notations in (2.4), (2.5) and (2.15), we obtain the following inequality in the same way as in the proof of II),

REPRESENTATION THEOREM OF COHOMOLOGY

(2.16)
$$\int_{X \cap W_1} c_i^{-1} \sum_{\substack{D_{p-1} = (d_1, \cdots, d_{p-1}) \\ d_1 < \cdots < d_{p-1} }} \sum_{\substack{\alpha, \tau = 1 \\ \alpha, \tau = 1 }}^n \theta_{i, \overline{\tau}} (\chi \varphi)_{i, \alpha \overline{D}_{p-1}} \overline{(\chi \varphi)_i}^{\tau D_{p-1}} dV$$
$$\leq \|\overline{\partial} (\chi \varphi)\|^2 + \|\overline{\partial}^* (\chi \varphi)\|^2 \quad \text{for any} \quad \varphi \in B^{0, p}(\overline{X}, F \otimes K_M).$$

We estimate the both sides of this inequality. By the assumption, we apply (2.11), (2.12), (2.13) and (2.14) in the proof of I) to $\chi\varphi$ and K_1 . Then the left-hand side may be estimated in the following way. If $p \ge q$, then

$$(2.17) \qquad \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{X}\setminus K_{1}}^{2} \leq \|\chi\varphi\|_{\mathcal{X}\cap W_{1}}^{2}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{X}\cap W_{1}} c_{i}^{-1} \sum_{d_{1}<\cdots< d_{p-1}} \sum_{\alpha,\overline{\gamma}=1}^{n} \theta_{i,\overline{\tilde{\tau}}}(\chi\varphi)_{i,\overline{\alpha}\bar{D}_{p-1}}(\overline{\chi\varphi})_{i}^{\overline{\gamma}\bar{D}_{p-1}} dV$$

for some positive constant κ as which is taken in (2.11).

As for the right-hand side,

$$\begin{split} \|\bar{\partial}(\chi\varphi)\|^{2} + \|\bar{\partial}^{*}(\chi\varphi)\|^{2} \\ &= \|\bar{\partial}\chi \wedge \varphi + \chi \bar{\partial}\varphi\|^{2} + \| - *c_{t}\partial * c_{t}^{-1}(\chi\varphi)\|^{2} \\ &= \|\bar{\partial}\chi \wedge \varphi + \chi \bar{\partial}\varphi\|^{2} + \|\chi \bar{\partial}^{*}\varphi - *(\partial\chi \wedge *\varphi)\|^{2} \\ &= \|\bar{\partial}\chi \wedge \varphi\|^{2} + 2\operatorname{Re}(\bar{\partial}\chi \wedge \varphi, \chi \bar{\partial}\varphi) + \|\chi \bar{\partial}\varphi\|^{2} \\ &+ \|\chi \bar{\partial}^{*}\varphi\|^{2} + 2\operatorname{Re}(\chi \bar{\partial}^{*}\varphi, - *(\partial\chi \wedge *\varphi)) + \|*(\partial\chi \wedge *\varphi)\|^{2} \\ &\leq 2\{\|\bar{\partial}\chi \wedge \varphi\|^{2} + \|\chi \bar{\partial}\varphi\|^{2} + \|\partial\chi \wedge *\varphi\|^{2} + \|\chi \bar{\partial}^{*}\varphi\|^{2}\} \\ &\leq 2\{\|\bar{\partial}\varphi\|^{2} + \|\bar{\partial}^{*}\varphi\|^{2} + 2c_{0}\Big(\int_{K_{1}}|\operatorname{grad}\chi|^{2}\langle\varphi,\varphi\rangle dV\Big)\Big\}. \end{split}$$

Here we used [45], p. 18, Lemma A and the fact that the star operator * is isometric with respect to the pointwise inner product \langle , \rangle and c_0 is a positive constant depending only the dimension of M and $|\text{grad}\chi|^2$ is the length of grad χ with respect to ds^2 .

Therefore, if

(2.18)
$$C_1 \geq \frac{4}{\kappa} \max\{1, c_0 \sup_{x \in M} |\operatorname{grad} \chi|^2(x)\},$$

we have, from (2.16), (2.17) and (2.18),

$$\|\varphi\|_{X\setminus K_1}^2 \leq C_1 \{\|\bar{\partial}\varphi\|^2 + \|\bar{\partial}^*\varphi\|^2 + \|\varphi\|_{K_1}^2\}$$

for any $\varphi \in B^{0, p}(\overline{X}, F \otimes K_M)$ with $p \ge q$. This completes the proof of I).

KENSHO TAKEGOSHI

Let X be a relatively compact domain with smooth boundary ∂X and let $\boldsymbol{\Phi}$ be a defining function for X on a neighborhood V of ∂X . Then we may assume that the gradient of $\boldsymbol{\Phi}$ nowhere vanishes on V. We set

(2.19)
$$X_t = \{x \in V | \boldsymbol{\Phi}(x) < t\} \cup X, \quad \partial X_t = \{x \in V | \boldsymbol{\Phi}(x) = t\}$$

for any t with $0 \leq t < \sup_{x \in V} \Phi(x)$, and in particular

$$X = X_0$$
, $\partial X = \partial X_0$.

Let $F \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ be a holomorphic line bundle on M. Then, if we fix a hermitian metric on M and a hermitian metric of F, for each $t \ge 0$, we can consider Hilbert spaces $L^{\cdot,\cdot}(X_t, F \otimes K_M)$, which are the completions of $C_0^{\cdot,\cdot}(X_t, F \otimes K_M)$ with respect to the norm $||, ||_t^2 = \int_{X_t} \langle , \rangle dV$, and operators $\overline{\partial}_t, \overline{\partial}_t^*$ and ϑ_t in $L^{\cdot,\cdot}(X_t, F \otimes K_M)$.

Proposition 2.2. Let $\{X_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ and F be as above. If there exist i) a positive constant δ such that for any t $(0\leq t\leq \delta)$ X_t is a domain with pseudoconvex boundary ∂X_t , and ii) a Kähler metric $d\sigma^2$ on a neighborhood V of ∂X such that $F \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ is q-positive with respect to $d\sigma^2$ on V, then there exist a positive constant C_3 independent of tand a proper compact subset K_3 such that for each t $(0\leq t\leq \delta)$

(2.20)
$$\|\varphi\|_{t, \mathcal{I}_{t} \setminus \mathcal{K}_{3}}^{2} \leq C_{3} \{\|\overline{\partial}_{t}\varphi\|_{t}^{2} + \|\overline{\partial}_{t}^{*}\varphi\|_{t}^{2} + \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{K}_{3}}^{2} \}$$

for any $\varphi \in D^{0,p}_{\delta_t} \cap D^{0,p}_{\delta_t^*} \subset L^{0,p}(X_t, F \otimes K_M)$ with $p \ge q$.

The proof is similar to that of Proposition 2.1 I). In fact, C_s in that proposition depends only on the length of the gradient of C^{∞} -function on M and the lower bound of $\varepsilon_{n-q+1} + n \inf(0, \varepsilon_n)$ with respect to $G_i^{-1}\Theta_i$ (see (2.11) and (2.18)).

§ 2.3. Weak Finiteness and Vanishing Theorems

Theorem 2.3. Let X be a (connected) domain with pseudoconvex boundary ∂X on a complex manifold M and let $F \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ be a holomorphic line bundle on M.

I) If there exists a Kähler metric do^2 on a neighborhood of ∂X and

 $F \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ is q-positive with respect to $d\sigma^2$ on its neighborhood, then it holds that if $p \ge q$,

i) $L^{0, p}(X, F \otimes K_M) \cong R^{0, p}_{\overline{\delta}\overline{\delta}^*} \oplus N^{0, p} \oplus R^{0, p}_{\overline{\delta}\overline{\delta}},$

ii) $\dim_{\mathcal{C}} N^{0, p} < +\infty$

and so

iii) the image of the restriction homomorphism

$$r: H^{p}(M, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{\mathcal{M}})) \to H^{p}(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{\mathcal{M}}))$$

has finite dimension.

II) If M is provided with a Kähler metric ds^2 and $F \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ is q-semipositive with respect to ds^2 on a neighborhood V of \overline{X} and q-semipositive with respect to ds^2 on $V \setminus K$, where K is a proper compact subset of X, then if $p \ge q$, for any $f \in L^{0,p}(X, F \otimes K_M)$ with $\overline{\partial} f = 0$, there exists $g \in L^{0,p-1}(X, F \otimes K_M)$ satisfying $f = \overline{\partial} g$ and so the natural homomorphism

$$r_{1} \colon H^{p}(M, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{M})) \to H^{p}(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{M}))$$
$$r_{p} \colon H^{p}_{e}(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{M})) \to H^{p}(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{M}))$$

are zero maps for $p \ge q$, where $H^p_c(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_N))$ denotes the p-th cohomology group with compact supports.

In particular, we obtain

Corollary 2.4. Let X, M and F be as above.

I) If $F \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ is positive on a neighborhood of ∂X , it holds that if $p \ge 1$,

i) $L^{0, p}(X, F \otimes K_M) \cong R^{0, p}_{\overline{\delta}\overline{\delta}} \oplus N^{0, p} \oplus R^{0, p}_{\overline{\delta}\overline{\delta}}$

ii) $\dim_{\mathbf{C}} N^{0, p} < +\infty$

and so

iii) the image of the restriction homomorphism

 $r: H^{p}(M, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{\mathcal{M}})) \to H^{p}(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{\mathcal{M}}))$

has finite dimension.

II) If M is provided with a Kähler metric ds^2 and $F \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ is semipositive on a neighborhood V of \overline{X} and positive on $V \setminus K$, where K is a proper compact subset of X, then if $p \ge 1$, for any $f \in L^{0, p}(X, F)$ $\otimes K_M$) with $\overline{\partial} f = 0$, there exists $g \in L^{0, p-1}(X, F \otimes K_M)$ satisfying $f = \overline{\partial} g$ and the natural homomorphisms

$$r_{1}: H^{p}(M, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{M})) \to H^{p}(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{M}))$$
$$r_{2}: H^{p}_{c}(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{M})) \to H^{p}(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{M}))$$

are zero maps for $p \ge 1$.

Proof of Theorem 2.3. I). i) and ii) of I) follow from Proposition 1.11 I) and Proposition 2.1 I). While, if we let $L^{0,p}_{loc}(Y, F \otimes K_M)$ denote the set of the locally square integrable (0, p) forms on Y with values in $F \otimes K_M$ for any open subset Y of M, then there is a natural isomorphism

 $(2.21) \quad H^{p}(Y, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{M}))$

$$\simeq \frac{\{f \in L^{\mathfrak{g},p}_{\operatorname{loc}}(Y, F \otimes K_{\mathfrak{M}}) : \overline{\partial}f = 0\}}{\{f \in L^{\mathfrak{g},p}_{\operatorname{loc}}(Y, F \otimes K_{\mathfrak{M}}) : f = \overline{\partial}g \text{ for some } g \in L^{\mathfrak{g},p-1}_{\operatorname{loc}}(Y, F \otimes K_{\mathfrak{M}})\}}$$

Here we consider the operator $\overline{\partial}$ in the sense of distribution. Hence, there is the following factorization of the homomorphism r



From ii) of I) and $N^{0, p}_{\bar{\delta}}/R^{0, p}_{\bar{\delta}} \cong N^{0, p}$, Im r is finite dimensional.

II). The former assertion follows from Propositions 1.10 i), 1.11 II) and 2.1 II). Combining this with (2.21), the latter one follows Q.E.D. immediately.

Remark 2.3. Such finiteness theorems of weak type as Theorem 2.3, I) and Corollary 2.4, I) were treated in [9], [22], [23], [24] and [28] etc., from the viewpoint of boundary regularity of the ∂ -operator. The basic estimates used in these papers are more precise than ours in the following sense.

Let X be a relatively compact domain with smooth boundary ∂X on

a complex manifold M and let the defining function Φ of X be strongly qpseudoconvex on a neighborhood V of ∂X . For any holomorphic line bundle F on M and a fixed hermitian metric $\{a'_i\}$ of F, we consider $\{a_i = a'_i \exp(\widetilde{\Phi})\}$ as a new hermitian metric of F, where $\widetilde{\Phi}$ is a C^{∞} function on M and coincides with the original Φ on a neighborhood of ∂X . Then, there exist a hermitian metric ds^2 on M and a positive constant C_* such that

i) for $\{a_i\}$, F is q-positive with respect to ds^2 on a neighborhood of ∂X .

(*)

ii) if
$$s \ge 1$$
 and $t \ge q$,
 $a_i^{-1} \sum_{A_s, \overline{B}_{t-1}} \sum_{\alpha, \beta=1}^n \partial_\alpha \partial_{\overline{\beta}} \widetilde{\mathcal{O}} \varphi_{i, A_s \overline{B}_{t-1}} \overline{\varphi_i^{\overline{A}_s \beta \overline{B}_{t-1}}}$
 $\ge C_* a_i^{-1} \sum_{A_s, \overline{B}_t} \varphi_{i, A_s \overline{B}_t} \varphi_i^{\overline{A}_s \overline{B}_t}$ on ∂X for every $\varphi \in B^{s, \iota}(\overline{X}, F)$

(See [5], § 5.16, Lemmas 18, 19 and 20 and § 5.17, Lemma 21.)

In general, the metric ds^2 is not Kähler near the boundary ∂X , nevertheless, we can prove that there exist a positive constant C_{**} and a compact subset K of X such that, if $\varphi \in B^{s,t}(\overline{X}, F)$ and $s \ge 1$, $t \ge q$,

i) $\|\varphi\|^2_{X\setminus K} \leq C_{**} \{\|\overline{\partial}\varphi\|^2 + \|\overline{\partial}^*\varphi\|^2 + \|\varphi\|^2_K\}$

(**)

$$\text{ii)} \quad \|\overline{\nabla}\varphi\|^2 + \|\varphi\|^2 + \int_{\partial X} \langle \varphi, \varphi \rangle dS \leq C_{**} \{ \|\overline{\partial}\varphi\|^2 + \|\overline{\partial}^*\varphi\|^2 + \|\varphi\|^2 \}$$

where the integral $\|\overline{\nabla}\varphi\|^2$ is defined as same as in Proposition 1.5 with respect to the covariant differentiation $\overline{\nabla}$ of type (0, 1) associated to the connection of ds^2 .

The above inequalities are not new and, essentially, due to Hormander [17], Theorem 3.2.5 and Proposition 3.4.4, Kohn and Rossi [29], 3.12 Proposition and 5.8 Theorem, and Andreotti and Vesentini [6]. In particular, the estimate (**) (ii) is a crucial one. In fact, the estimate (**) (ii) implies that the graph norm $Q(\varphi, \varphi) = (\bar{\partial}\varphi, \bar{\partial}\varphi) + (\bar{\partial}^*\varphi, \bar{\partial}^*\varphi) + (\varphi, \varphi)$ is completely continuous on the space $B^{s,t}(\bar{X}, F)$ (see [22], 6.2 Theorem and 6.16 Proposition). In this connection, the graph norm Q(,) is always completely continuous on the space $C_0^{s,t}(X, F)$ by the ellipticity of the operator $\Box = \overline{\partial}\vartheta + \partial\overline{\partial}$. By using this property of the graph norm Q(,), Kohn and Nirenberg proved boundary regularity of the operator $\Box = \overline{\partial}\vartheta + \partial\overline{\partial}$, which is, in their sense, strongly elliptic operator of second order, *i.e. in the situation as above, if* $s \ge 1$ and $t \ge q$, i) any element φ in $N^{s,t} = N^{s,t}_{\overline{\partial}} \cap N^{s,t}_{\overline{\partial}} \subset L^{s,t}(X, F)$, which is the completion of $C^{s,t}_0(X, F)$ by the norm associated with the above $\{a_i\}$ and ds^2 , can be taken as an element of $C^{s,t}(\overline{X}, F)$

ii) any element $\varphi \in C^{s,t}(\overline{X}, F)$ with $\overline{\partial} \varphi = 0$ and $\varphi \perp N^{s,t}$, there exists an element $\psi \in C^{s,t-1}(\overline{X}, F)$ with $\overline{\partial} \psi = \varphi$.

(For detailed descriptions. see [22] and [9] 3.1.11 Proposition and 3.1.15 Proposition.)

But in our situation, the quadratic form $\sum_{D_{p-1}} \sum_{\beta,\tau=1}^{n} \partial_{\beta} \overline{\partial}_{\tau} \varPhi \varphi_{i,\beta} \overline{\partial}_{p-1} \cdot \overline{\varphi_{i,\beta}} \overline{\varphi_{p-1}} \cdot \overline{\varphi_{i,\beta}} \overline$

While, vanishing theorems of weak type as Theorem 2.3, II) and Corollary 2.4, II) were treated in [3], [4], [5] and [36] etc. In these works, the completeness with respect to Kähler metrics was an important ground for the proof. In the situation of Theorem 2.3, II), the actual situation is that a complete Kähler metric $d\sigma^2$ exists on X. $d\sigma^2$ is constructed as follows. Let d(x) be the distance from $x \in X$ to ∂X with respect to the given Kähler metric ds^2 on M and d is a C^{∞} -function near ∂X . Then $\inf_{\|\lambda\|=1} \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^2(-\log d)}{\partial z^{\alpha}\partial \overline{z}^{\beta}} \lambda_{\alpha}\overline{\lambda}_{\beta}$ is bounded from below with some constant, which may not be non-negative generally, near ∂X uniformly (see [8], Principal lemma). We extend d to a C^{∞} -function \tilde{d} on X without changing the original near ∂X in a suitable manner. If we take a positive constant κ large enough, $d\sigma^2 = \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^2(-\log \tilde{d})}{\partial z^{\alpha}\partial \overline{z}^{\beta}} dz^{\alpha} d\overline{z}^{\beta} + \kappa ds^2$ is, again, a Kähler metric on X and since $-\log \tilde{d}$ is an exhaustion function on X and the gradient of \tilde{d} nowhere vanishes near ∂X , $d\sigma^2$ is a complete Kähler metric on X (see [31], Proposition 1).

Therefore, if ∂X is pseudoconvex and there exists a Kähler metric on a neighborhood of ∂X , then there exists a complete hermitian metric on X which is Kähler near ∂X . But, in our situation, the existence of these complete metrics does not seem to be so useful. Because, the boundedness from below of the eigenvalues of the curvature of F with respect to these complete metrics can not be easily verified. But pseudoconvexity and the existence of complete Kähler metrics have a deep relation. (See [36], [47], [49].)

In these points, our estimates in Section 2.2 by using the formula (1.30) seem to be most appropriate.

§ 2.4. A Stability Theorem for Spaces of Harmonic Forms

Through this section, we use notations in (2.19) and Proposition 2.2, and set ourselves in the following situation:

i) There exists a positive constant δ such that for any $t \ (0 \leq t \leq \delta)$ X_t is a domain with pseudoconvex boundary ∂X_t .

ii) There exist a Kähler metric $d\sigma^2$ on a neighborhood V of ∂X and a holomorphic line bundle $F \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ such that F is q-positive with respect to $d\sigma^2$ on V.

Then, since we may assume that $\partial X_{\delta} \subseteq V$, from Proposition 2.2, weak finite theorem holds for each t $(0 \leq t \leq \delta)$, i.e., if t $(0 \leq t \leq \delta)$ and $p \geq q$, then

i)
$$L^{0,p}(X_t, F \otimes K_M) \cong R^{0,p}_{\tilde{\delta}_t \tilde{\delta}_t} \oplus N^{0,p}_t \oplus R^{0,p}_{\tilde{\delta}_t^* \tilde{\delta}_t}$$
 where $N^{0,p}_t = N^{0,p}_{\tilde{\delta}_t} \cap N^{0,p}_{\tilde{\delta}_t^*}$

ii)
$$\dim_{\mathbf{C}} N_{t}^{0,p} < +\infty.$$

In this way, we obtain a family $\{N_t^{0,p}\}_{0 \leq t \leq \delta}$ of spaces of harmonic forms parametrized by the defining function Φ . By composing the following natural holomorphisms,

restriction map $r_{t_2}^{\iota_1}$: $L^{0, p}(X_{t_1}, F \otimes K_M) \rightarrow L^{0, p}(X_{t_2}, F \otimes K_M)$ $(0 \le t_2 < t_1 \le \delta)$

orthogonal projection $H_t: L^{0, p}(X_t, F \otimes K_M) \rightarrow N_t^{0, p}$

KENSHO TAKEGOSHI

$$(0 \leq t \leq \delta)$$
,

we obtain a homomorphism

 $\rho_{t_2}^{t_1}: N_{\iota_1}^{0, p} \to N_{\iota_2}^{0, p} \quad (0 \leq t_2 < t_1 \leq \delta).$

We denote other two orthogonal projections by

$$\begin{aligned} R_t \colon L^{0,p}(X_t, F \otimes K_M) \to R^{0,p}_{\bar{\partial}t\bar{\partial}t} \\ R_t^* \colon L^{0,p}(X_t, F \otimes K_M) \to R^{0,p}_{\bar{\partial}t\bar{\partial}t} \quad (p \ge q \text{ and } 0 \le t \le \delta) \end{aligned}$$

The main result of this section is the following stability theorem.

Theorem 2.5. In the above situation, there exists a postive constant δ_* ($\delta_* \leq \delta$) such that for any t ($0 < t \leq \delta_*$) and $p \geq q$, the homomorphism ρ_0^t : $N_t^{0,p} \to N_0^{0,p}$ is an isomorphism.

Remark 2.4. If Φ is plurisubharmonic, a stronger result hold (see Chapter III, Theorem 3.5). Our method, which will be used to prove Theorem 2.5, seems to be an interesting one in the theory of $\overline{\partial}$ -operator with boundary condition.

The remainder of this section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 2.5. In the first place, we prove the following.

Proposition 2.6. Under the circumstance mentioned at the beginning of this section, there exist positive constants δ_0 ($\delta_0 \leq \delta$) and C_4 such that, for any t ($0 \leq t \leq \delta_0$),

 $\|\varphi\|_t^2 \leq C_4 \{\|\overline{\partial}_t \varphi\|_t^2 + \|\overline{\partial}_t^* \varphi\|_t^2\}$

if $\varphi \in D^{0,p}_{\tilde{\sigma}t} \cap D \subset L^{0,p}_{\tilde{\sigma}t}(X_t, F \otimes K_N)$ and $(r^t_0(\varphi), h)_0 = 0$ for all $h \in N^{0,p}_0 \subset L^{0,p}(X, F \otimes K_N)$.

Proof. Assume that the assertion is false. For any C, we can find arbitrarily small t for which (2.20) does not hold. If necessary, take a subsequence and we may assume that there exist sequences $\{t_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ and $\{\varphi_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ such that

i)
$$t_n > 0$$
, $t_n > t_{n+1}$ and $t_n \rightarrow 0$ as $n \rightarrow +\infty$,

REPRESENTATION THEOREM OF COHOMOLOGY

ii)
$$\varphi_n \in D^{0,p}_{\bar{\partial}t_n} \cap D^{0,p}_{\bar{\partial}t_n^*} \subset L^{0,p}(X_{t_n}, F \otimes K_M)$$

(2.23) $\|\varphi_n\|_{t_n}^2 = 1$ and $\|\bar{\partial}_{t_n}\varphi_n\|_{t_n}^2, \|\bar{\partial}_{t_n}^*\varphi_n\|_{t_n}^2 \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$,
iii) $(\varphi_n, h)_0 = 0$ for all $h \in N^{0,p}_0 \subset L^{0,p}(X, F \otimes K_M)$.

From (2.23) ii), we may assume that $\{\varphi_n\}$ is weakly convergent to some φ in $L^{0,p}(X, F \otimes K_M)$. On the other hand, if $\psi \in C^{0,p-1}(\overline{X}, F \otimes K_M)$, we have

$$|(\bar{\partial}\psi,\varphi)_{0}| = \lim_{n \to +\infty} |(\bar{\partial}\psi,\varphi_{n})_{0}| = \lim_{n \to +\infty} |(\bar{\partial}_{t_{n}}\psi,\varphi_{n})_{t_{n}} - (\bar{\partial}_{t_{n}}\psi,\varphi_{n})_{Xt_{n}\setminus X}|$$

$$\leq \lim_{n \to +\infty} |(\psi,\bar{\partial}_{t_{n}}^{*}\varphi_{n})_{t_{n}}| + \lim_{n \to +\infty} |(\bar{\partial}_{t_{n}}\psi,\varphi_{n})_{Xt_{n}\setminus X}|$$

$$\leq \lim_{n \to +\infty} ||\psi||_{t_{n}} ||\bar{\partial}_{t_{n}}^{*}\varphi_{n}||_{t_{n}} + \lim_{n \to +\infty} ||\bar{\partial}_{t_{n}}\psi||_{Xt_{n}\setminus X} = 0$$

and

$$\lim_{n\to+\infty} \|\bar{\partial}\varphi_n\|_0^2 \leq \lim_{n\to+\infty} \|\bar{\partial}_{t_n}\varphi_n\|_{t_n}^2 = 0.$$

Hence, by Proposition 1.6 ii), we have that $\varphi \in D^{0,p}_{\overline{\partial}} \subset L^{0,p}(X, F \otimes K_M)$ and $\overline{\partial}^* \varphi = 0$ in $L^{0,p-1}(X, F \otimes K_M)$ and $\overline{\partial} \varphi = 0$ in $L^{0,p+1}(X, F \otimes K_M)$. So φ is contained in $N^{0,p}_0$. But each φ_n is orthogonal to $N^{0,p}_0$. Therefore we obtain $\varphi = 0$. While, by the same argument in the proof of Proposition 1.11 I), we may assume that $\{\varphi_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ is strongly convergent to zero on K_s . From (2.20) and (2.23) ii), we have

$$1 = \|\varphi_n\|_{t_n}^2 \leq C_3 \{ \|\bar{\partial}_{t_n}\varphi\|_{t_n}^2 + \|\bar{\partial}_{t_n}^*\varphi_n\|_{t_n}^2 \} + (C_3 + 1) \|\varphi_n\|_{K_3}^2 \to 0$$

as $n \rightarrow +\infty$. This is a contradiction.

Q.E.D.

Proof of Theorem 2.5. Step I. If $p \ge q$ and $0 < t \le \delta_0$, $\rho_0^t : N_t^{0,p} \to N_0^{0,p}$ is injective. If $\varphi \in N_t^{0,p}$ and $\rho_0^t(\varphi) = 0$, then $r_0^t(\varphi) \in R_{\delta\delta}^{0,p}$. Hence $r_0^t(\varphi)$ is orthogonal to $N_0^{0,p}$. Therefore, from Proposition 2.6 (2.22), we have $\|\varphi\|_t^2 \le C_4 \{\|\bar{\partial}_t\varphi\|_t^2 + \|\bar{\partial}_t^*\varphi\|_t^2\} = 0$. Hence $\varphi = 0$.

Step II. There exists a positive constant δ_* ($\delta_* \leq \delta_0$) such that if $p \geq q$ and $0 < t \leq \delta_*$, $\rho_0^t \colon N_t^{0,p} \to N_0^{0,p}$ is surjective.

We remark that the following diagram is commutative: if $t_1 > t_2 > 0$,



To see this, it suffices to show that $H_0 \circ r_0^{t_2} = H_0 \circ r_0^{t_2} \circ H_{t_2}$ i.e. $\rho_0^{t_3} = \rho_0^{t_2} \circ H_{t_2}$ on $N_{\frac{3}{2}t_2}^{0,p}$. Take $\varphi \in N_{\frac{3}{2}t_2}^{0,p}$, then $r_0^{t_2}(\varphi) = R_0 \circ r_0^{t_2}(\varphi) + H_0 \circ r_0^{t_2}(\varphi)$ = $R_0 \circ r_0^{t_2}(\varphi) + H_0(r_0^{t_2} \circ R_{t_2}(\varphi) + r_0^{t_2} \circ H_{t_2}(\varphi)) = R_0 \circ r_0^{t_2}(\varphi) + H_0 \circ r_0^{t_2} \circ H_{t_2}(\varphi)$. Hence $\rho_0^{t_2} = \rho_0^{t_2} \circ H_{t_2}$ on $N_{\frac{3}{2}t_2}^{0,p}$. We come back to the beginning. Assume that the assertion is false. From the injectivity of ρ_0^t and the above remark, it holds that

- i) if t < t', $\rho_0^t(N_t^{0,p})$ is contained in $\rho_0^{t'}(N_t^{0,p})$ as a closed subspace,
- ii) $\dim_{\boldsymbol{C}} \rho_0^t(N_t^{0,p}) < \dim_{\boldsymbol{C}} N_0^{0,p} \text{ for } 0 < t \leq \delta_0.$

These imply that there exists a positive constant δ_1 such that if $0 < t \leq \delta_1$, $\rho_0^t(N_t^{0,p}) = \rho_0^{\delta_1}(N_{\delta_1}^{0,p})$ and $\dim_C \rho_0^{\delta_1}(N_{\delta_1}^{0,p}) < \dim_C N_0^{0,p}$. Hence there exists an element $u \neq 0$ of $N_0^{0,p}$ such that if $0 < t \leq \delta_1$,

(2.24)
$$(u, h)_0 = 0$$
 for all $h \in N_t^{0, p}$.

We shall show that

$$(u, g)_0 = 0$$
 for all $g \in N_0^{0, \mu}$

in this situation. This means u=0 and we arrive at a contradiction. Take a sequence $\{t_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ such that $t_n\leq \delta_1$, $t_n>t_{n+1}$ and $t_n\to 0$ as $n\to +\infty$ and extend the definition of u by setting u=0 on $M\setminus X$. We denote it by u'. Then, from (2.24), we have for any element φ of $N_{\tilde{b}t_n}^{0,p}$

$$(u',\varphi)_{t_n} = (u, r_0^{t_n}(\varphi))_0 = (u, R_0 \circ r_0^{t_n}(\varphi) + H_0 \circ r_0^{t_n}(\varphi))_0$$

= $(u, R_0 \circ r_0^{t_n}(\varphi))_0 + (u, H_0 \circ r_0^{t_n}(\varphi))_0$
= $(u, \rho_0^{t_n}(\varphi))_0 = 0.$

Hence u' is orthogonal to $N^{0,p}_{\delta t_n}$ $(n \ge 1)$ and so $u' \in R^{0,p}_{\delta t_n^* \delta}$ $(n \ge 1)$. From Proposition 1.10 ii) and Proposition 2.6, there exists an element $v_n \in L^{0,p+1}$ $(X_{t_n}, F \otimes K_M)$ such that $\overline{\partial}^*_{t_n} v_n = u'$ and $\|v_n\|_{t_n} \le C_4^{1/2} \|u\|_0$ for any $n \ge 1$. Hence we may asume that $\{v_n\}_{n\ge 1}$ is weakly convergent to some $v \in L^{0,p+1}$ $(X, F \otimes K_M)$. If $\psi \in C^{0,p}(\overline{X}, F \otimes K_M)$, we have

$$|(\overline{\partial}\psi, v)_0| = \lim_{n \to +\infty} |(\overline{\partial}\psi, v_n)_0|$$

REPRESENTATION THEOREM OF COHOMOLOGY

$$= \lim_{n \to +\infty} |\left(\bar{\partial}_{t_n} \psi, v_n\right)_{t_n} - \left(\bar{\partial}_{t_n} \psi, v_n\right)_{Xt_n \setminus X}|$$

$$\leq \lim_{n \to +\infty} |\left(\psi, \bar{\partial}_{t_n}^* v_n\right)_{t_n}| + \lim_{n \to +\infty} |\left(\bar{\partial}_{t_n} \psi, v_n\right)_{Xt_n \setminus X}|$$

$$\leq \|\varphi\|_0 \|u\|_0 + C_4^{1/2} \|u\|_0 (\lim_{n \to +\infty} \|\bar{\partial}_{t_n} \psi\|_{Xt_n \setminus X})$$

$$= \|\psi\|_0 \|u\|_0.$$

Hence $v \in D^{0,p+1}_{\bar{\theta}^{\wedge}} \subset L^{0,p-1}(X, F \otimes K_M)$. While, for any $\varphi \in C_0^{0,p}(X_0, F \otimes K_M)$, we have

$$(\varphi, u)_{0} = \lim_{n \to +\infty} (\varphi, u)_{t_{n}} = \lim_{n \to +\infty} (\varphi, \overline{\partial}_{t_{n}}^{*} v_{n})_{t_{n}}$$
$$= \lim_{n \to +\infty} (\overline{\partial}_{t_{n}} \varphi, v_{n})_{t_{n}} = (\overline{\partial} \varphi, v)_{0}.$$

Hence $\vartheta v = u$. Since $v \in D^{0, p+1}_{\bar{\delta}^{l}}$, we have $\bar{\partial}^{*} v = u$ (see Proposition 1.7 iii)). Therefore, if $g \in N^{0, p}_{0}$, we have $(u, g)_{0} = (\bar{\partial}^{*} v, g)_{0} = (v, \bar{\partial} g)_{0} = 0$. This completes the proof of Theorem 2.5.

Remark 2.5. The author does not know whether we can derive the finite dimensionality of $H^p(X_t, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{\mathcal{H}}))$ for $p \ge q$ and some t > 0in the situation of this section. To see this, at least, we need some approximation theorem of the Runge type (for example, see Proposition 3.3 and the proof of Theorem 3.6 in Chapter III). But, at present, the author can only prove the following approximation theorem of weak type.

Under the situation of this section, if $p \ge q-1$, the closure of the space $\bigcup_{\substack{0 < t \le \delta_0 \\ 0 < t \le \delta_0}} r_0^t(N_{\delta_t}^{0,p})$ in $L^{0,p}(X, F \otimes K_M)$ coincides with the closed subspace $N_{\delta}^{0,p}$ in $L^{0,p}(X, F \otimes K_M)$, where δ_0 is the positive constant taken in Propositition 2.6, i.e., for any $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\varphi \in N_{\delta}^{0,p} \subset L^{0,p}(X, F \otimes K_M)$, there exist a positive constant δ ($\delta \le \delta_0$) depending on φ and ε , and $\widetilde{\varphi} \in N_{\delta_\delta}^{0,p} \subset L^{0,p}(X_{\delta}, F \otimes K_M)$ satisfying $\|\widetilde{\varphi}\|_X - \varphi\|^2 < \varepsilon$.

Proof. If there exists a non-zero element $u \in N^{0,p}_{\delta} \subset L^{0,p}(X, F \otimes K_M)$ such that, for every t $(0 < t \leq \delta_0)$,

 $(u, f)_0 = 0$ for any $f \in N^{0, p}_{\overline{\delta}_t} \subset L^{0, p}(X_t, F \otimes K_M)$,

then we shall show that

KENSHO TAKEGOSHI

 $(u, g)_0 = 0$ for any $g \in N^{0, p}_{\overline{\delta}} \subset L^{0, p}(X, F \otimes K_M)$.

This leads us to a contradiction. We set u' = u on X and 0 on $M \setminus X$. Then u' is contained in $L^{0,p}(X_t, F \otimes K_M)$ and orthogonal to $N_{\delta t}^{0,p}$ for every $0 < t \leq \delta_0$. Hence $u' \in \overline{R_{\delta t}^{0,p}} = R_{\delta t}^{0,p}$ (in particular, when p = q - 1, this equality is secured by the closedness of the range $R_{\delta t}^{0,q}$). Take a sequence $\{t_n\}$ such that $t_n \leq \delta_0$ $(n \geq 1)$, $t_n > t_{n-1}$ and $t_n \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$. Then, by the same reason in Step II of the proof of Theorem 2.5, there exists a sequence $\{v_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ such that $v_n \in L^{0,p+1}(X_{t_n}, F \otimes K_M)$, $\overline{\delta}_{t_n}^* v_n = u'$ and $||v_n||_{t_n} \leq C_4^{1/2} ||u||_0$ for every $n \geq 1$. Hence, by the similar manner in Step II of the proof of Theorem 2.5, there exists a set set $v \in L^{0,p+1}(X, F \otimes K_M)$. Therefore, if $g \in N_{\delta}^{0,p} \subset L^{0,p}(X, F \otimes K_M)$, we have $(u, g)_0 = 0$. Q.E.D.

Chapter III. Cohomology Groups on Weakly 1-Complete Manifolds

§ 3.1. Definitions and the Basic Estimate

Let X be a connected complex manifold of dimension n.

Definition 3.1. A complex manifold X is said to be weakly 1complete if there exists a C^{∞} -exhausting plurisubharmonic function Φ on X. Φ is called an *exhaustion function* on X.

Remark 3.1. If c is a non-critical value of \emptyset , plurisubharmonicity of \emptyset implies that $X_c = \{x \in X | \emptyset(x) < c\}$ is a domain with pseudoconvex boundary $\partial X_c = \{x \in X | \emptyset(x) = c\}$.

In Sections 3.1 and 3.2, we set the following situation.

(3.1) i) X is a weakly 1-complete manifold with respect to Φ .

ii) There exists a Kähler metric $d\sigma^2$ on $X \setminus K_4$.

iii) $F \xrightarrow{\pi} X$ is a holomorphic line bundle on X which is q-positive with respect to $d\sigma^2$ on $X \setminus K_4$, where K_4 is a proper compact subset

of X.

We choose compact subsets K'', K' and K of X such that $K_4 \subset \operatorname{Int} K''$, $K'' \subset \operatorname{Int} K'$ and $K' \subset \operatorname{Int} K$. We set

$$(3.2)$$
 $\{a_i\}$

the hermitian metric of F with respect to the coordinate cover $\{U_i\}_{i \in I}$ corresponding to the assumption. Let K_X be the canonical line bundle of X. Then we define a hermitian metric ds^2 on X and a hermitian metric of $F \otimes K_X$ as follows:

(3.3) i)
$$ds^2 = \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{n} g_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}} dz_i^{\alpha} d\bar{z}_i^{\beta}$$
,
ii) $ds^2 = d\sigma^2$ on $X \setminus K'$,
iii) $c_i = a_i g_i$ where $g_i = \det(g_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}})$

We set

i)
$$\theta_i = (\theta_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}})$$
 where $\theta_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \partial_\alpha \partial_{\bar{\beta}} \log a_i$,
ii) $G_i = (g_{i,\alpha\bar{\beta}})$.

For any open subset Y of X, let $L^{0,p}(Y, F \otimes K_X)$ be the completion of $C_0^{0,p}(Y, F \otimes K_X)$ by the norm $||, ||_Y$ defined by (3.3). We sometimes omit the symbol Y if it is clear. Linear operators $\overline{\partial}, \overline{\partial}^*$ (resp. $\overline{\partial}_F^*$) and ϑ (resp. ϑ_F) are defined in the same way as in Chapter I, Section 1.2. We fix non-critical values c_0 and c_1 of \varPhi such that $c_1 > c_0$ and $c_0 > \sup_{x \in K} \varPhi(x)$. We set

$$X_i = \{x \in X | \boldsymbol{\emptyset}(x) < c_i\} \text{ and } \partial X_i = \{x \in X | \boldsymbol{\emptyset}(x) = c_i\} \text{ for } i = 0, 1.$$

We take a C^{∞} -increasing convex function λ on $(-\infty, \infty)$ such that

(3.4)
$$\lambda(t) \begin{cases} =0 & \text{if } t \leq c_0 \\ >0 & \text{if } t > c_0 \end{cases}$$

We define hermitian metrics of F and $F \otimes K_X$ respectively as follows:

(3.5) i)
$$a_{m,i} = a_i \exp(m\lambda(\Phi))$$

ii) $c_{m,i} = a_{m,i}g_i$

for every non-negative integer m.

We set

$$\Theta_{m,i} = (\theta_{m,i,\alpha\bar{\beta}}) \quad \text{where} \quad \theta_{m,i,\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \partial_{\alpha}\bar{\partial}_{\beta} \log a_{m,i} \quad (m \geq 1)$$

With respect to (3,3) i) and (3,5), we set

$$(\varphi, \psi)_{m} = \int_{X_{1}} \langle \varphi, \psi \rangle_{m} dV$$
$$\|\varphi\|_{m}^{2} = (\varphi, \varphi)_{m} \quad \text{for any} \quad m \ge 0$$

where $\langle \varphi, \psi \rangle_m = \langle \varphi, \psi \rangle e^{-m\lambda(\varphi)}$.

For any *m*, the completion of $C_0^{0,p}(X_1, F \otimes K_X)$ by the norm $\|,\|_m$ coincides with $L^{0,p}(X_1, F \otimes K_X)$. We denote the adjoint operator of the maximal closed extension $\overline{\partial}$ in $L^{\cdots}(X_1, F \otimes K_X)$ with respect to the inner product $(,)_m$ by $\overline{\partial}_m^*$. Then from Proposition 1.7 iv), we have $D_{\overline{\partial}_m^*}^{0,p} = D_{\overline{\partial}_m^*}^{0,p}$ in $L^{0,p}(X_1, F \otimes K_X)$ for any $m \ge 1$ and $p \ge 1$.

Proposition 3.1. There is a positive constant C_4 such that (3.6) $\|\varphi\|_{m,X_1\setminus K}^2 \leq C_4 \{\|\bar{\partial}\varphi\|_m^2 + \|\bar{\partial}_m^*\varphi\|_m^2 + \|\varphi\|_K^2\}$ if $m \geq 0, \ \varphi \in D_{\bar{\partial}}^{0,p} \cap D_{\bar{\partial}}^{0,p}$ and $p \geq q$.

Proof. From (1.34) and Proposition 1.6 iii), it sufficies to show that the estimate holds for any element of $B^{0,p}(\overline{X}_1, F \otimes K_X)$. Let χ be a C^{∞} -function on X such that $\chi = 1$ on $X \setminus K$ and $\operatorname{supp} \chi \subseteq X \setminus K'$. From Remark 3.1, we obtain the following inequality in the same way as in the proof of Proposition 2.1 I).

(3.7)
$$\int_{X\setminus K'} c_{m,i}^{-1} \sum_{\substack{D_{p-1}=(d_1,\cdots,d_{p-1})\\d_1<\cdots< d_{p-1}}} \sum_{\substack{\alpha,\overline{\tau}=1}}^n \theta_{m,i,\overline{\tau}}(\chi\varphi)_{i,\overline{\alpha}\overline{D}_{p-1}}(\overline{\chi}\varphi)_{i}^{\overline{\tau}D_{p-1}}dV$$
$$\leq \|\overline{\partial}(\chi\varphi)\|_m^2 + \|\overline{\partial}_m^*(\chi\varphi)\|_m^2$$

for $\varphi \in B^{0,p}(\overline{X}_1, F \otimes K_X)$.

In the first place, we estimate the left hand side. Let $\{\varepsilon_{m,\alpha}\}_{1\leq \alpha\leq n}$ (resp. $\{\varepsilon_{\alpha}\}_{1\leq \alpha\leq n}$) be the eigenvalues of the matrix $G_i^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{m,i}$ (resp. $G_i^{-1}\mathcal{O}_i$). Since $G_i^{-1}\mathcal{O}_i \leq G_i^{1-}\mathcal{O}_{m,i}$, by the minimum-maximum principle for the eigenvalues, we have $\varepsilon_{m,n-q+1} \geq \varepsilon_{n-q+1}$ and $\varepsilon_{m,n} \geq \varepsilon_n$ on $X \setminus K''$. Hence at any point $x_0 \in X \setminus K'$, we have the following similarly to the proof of Prop-

osition 2.1 II): If $p \ge q$, then

$$\begin{split} \sum_{D_{p-1}} \sum_{\alpha,\tau=1}^{n} \theta_{m,i_{\tau}}^{\tilde{\alpha}}(\chi\varphi)_{i,\bar{\alpha}\bar{D}_{p-1}}\overline{(\chi\varphi)_{i}}^{\tau D_{p-1}} \\ & \geq (\varepsilon_{m,n-q+1}(x_{0}) + n \inf(0,\varepsilon_{m,n}(x_{0}))) \sum_{D_{p}} |(\chi\varphi)_{i,\bar{D}_{p}}|^{2} \\ & \geq (\varepsilon_{n-q+1}(x_{0}) + n \inf(0,\varepsilon_{n}(x_{0})) \sum_{D_{p}} |(\chi\varphi)_{i,\bar{D}_{p}}|^{2} \\ & \geq \kappa \sum_{D_{p}} |(\chi\varphi)_{i,\bar{D}_{p}}|^{2}, \end{split}$$

where $\kappa = \inf_{x \in \overline{x}_1 \setminus \text{Int } K'} (\varepsilon_{n-q-1}(x) + n \inf(0, \varepsilon_n(x))) > 0.$ Hence we have

(3.8)
$$\|\varphi\|_{m,X_1\setminus K}^2 \leq \|\chi\varphi\|_{m,X_1\setminus K'}^2$$
$$\leq 1/\kappa \int_{X_1\setminus K'} c_{m,i}^{-1} \sum_{D_{p-1}} \sum_{\alpha,\gamma=1}^n \theta_{m,i,\overline{\gamma}}(\chi\varphi)_{i,\overline{\alpha}\overline{D}_{p-1}}(\overline{\chi\varphi})_{i^{\overline{\gamma}\overline{D}_{p-1}}} dV .$$

Next, repeating the discussion of (2.17) in the proof of Proposition 2.1 I), we can estimate the right hand side of (3.7) in the following way:

$$(3.9) 1/\kappa \{ \|\bar{\partial}(\chi\varphi)\|_m^2 + \|\bar{\partial}_m^*(\chi\varphi)\|_m^2 \} \leq C_4 \{ \|\bar{\partial}\varphi\|_m^2 + \|\bar{\partial}_m^*\varphi\|_m^2 + \|\varphi\|_K^2 \},$$

where C_i is a positive constant and independent of m (see (2.18)).

Still, in (3.9), we used $||, ||_{m,K} = ||, ||_K$ for any $m \ge 1$ (see (3.4)).

From (3.7) (3.8) and (3.9), we obtain the required estimate (3.6) for elements of $B^{0,p}(\overline{X}_1, F \otimes K_x)$. Q.E.D.

§ 3.2. Finiteness, Isomorphic and Representation Theorems

Let our situation be the same as in Section 3.1. From (3.1) and Remark 3.1, for any non-critical value c of Φ , $X_c = \{x \in X | \Phi(x) < c\}$ and $F \xrightarrow{\pi} X$ satisfy the conditions of Theorem 2.3 I) and so we have

$$(3.10) L^{0,p}(X_c, F \otimes K_X) \cong R^{0,p}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}^*} \oplus N^{0,p}_c \oplus R^{0,p}_{\bar{a}^*\bar{a}}$$

and

$$\dim_{\mathcal{C}} N^{0, p}_{c} < +\infty, \quad \text{for} \quad p \geq q.$$

Proposition 3.2. There exist a positive constant C_5 and an

integer m_0 such that for any $m \ge m_0$ and $p \ge q$

(3.11)
$$\|\varphi\|_{m}^{2} \leq C_{3}\{\|\bar{\partial}\varphi\|_{m}^{2} + \|\bar{\partial}_{m}^{*}\varphi\|_{m}^{2}\}$$

for
$$\varphi \in D^{0,p}_{\delta} \cap D^{0,p}_{\delta^*} \subset L^{0,p}(X_1, F \otimes K_X)$$
, and
 $(\varphi, h)_{X_0} = 0$ for all $h \in N^{0,p}_{c_0} \subset L^{0,p}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$.

Proof. Assume that the assertion were false. There would be a sequence $\{\varphi_m\}$ such that

(3.12) i)
$$\varphi_m \in D^{0,p}_{\bar{\delta}^*} \cap D^{0,p}_{\bar{\delta}^*}$$
,
ii) $\|\varphi_m\|_m^2 = 1$ and $\|\bar{\delta}\varphi_m\|_m^2, \|\bar{\delta}_m^*\varphi_m\|_m^2 \to 0$ as $\to +\infty$
and

iii)
$$(\varphi_m, h)_{X_0} = 0$$
 for all $h \in N^{0,p}_{c_0} \subset L^{0,p}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$.

Let $g_m = e^{-m \lambda(\theta)} \varphi_m$, then we have

(3.13) i)
$$\vartheta g_m = e^{-m\lambda(\Phi)} \overline{\partial}_m^* \varphi_m$$
,
ii) $\| \vartheta g_m \|_{-m} = \| \overline{\partial}_m^* \varphi_m \|_m$.

By (3.12), we have

$$||g_{m}|| \leq ||g_{m}||_{-m} = ||\varphi_{m}||_{m} = 1.$$

Therefore, choosing a subsequence if necessary, we may assume that $\{g_m\}$ has a weak limit g in $L^{0, p}(X_1, F \otimes K_X)$. From (3.12) ii) and (3.13) ii), we have

(3.14)
$$\lim_{m \to +\infty} \|\vartheta g_m\| \leq \lim_{m \to +\infty} \|\vartheta g_m\|_{-m} = \lim_{m \to +\infty} \|\bar{\partial}_m^* \varphi_m\|_m = 0.$$

On the other hand, for every $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$\int_{\{x\in X\mid \emptyset(x)>c_0+\epsilon\}} e^{m\,\lambda(\emptyset)} \langle g_m, g_m \rangle dV \leq 1,$$

and so we have

$$e^{m\lambda(c_0+\varepsilon)}\int_{\{x\in X\mid \emptyset(x)\geq c_0+\varepsilon\}}\langle g_m,g_m\rangle dV \leq 1.$$

It follows that $\int_{\{x \in X \mid \emptyset(x) \ge c_0 + \epsilon\}} \langle g_m, g_m \rangle dV$ tends to zero and hence $g_m \to 0$ almost everywhere in $\{x \in X \mid \emptyset(x) \ge c_0 + \epsilon\}$. Hence g = 0 on $\{x \in X \mid \emptyset(x) \ge c_0 + \epsilon\}$ for every $\epsilon > 0$. Combining this with (3.14), we have

REPRESENTATION THEOREM OF COHOMOLOGY

(3.15)
$$\vartheta g = 0$$
 and $\operatorname{supp} g \subseteq \overline{X}_0$.

By Proposition 1.6 i), we have

$$(3.16) \qquad \qquad \overline{\partial}^* \left(g |_{X_0} \right) = 0 \; .$$

By (3.12) ii), we have

$$(3.17) \qquad \qquad \overline{\partial} (g|_{X_0}) = 0 .$$

From (3.12) iii), (3.16) and (3.17), we have

(3.18)
$$g = 0$$
.

Since $\bar{\partial}^* = \bar{\partial}_m^*$ on X_0 for every *m*, by the same argument as in the proof of Proposition 1.11 I), we may assume that $\{g_m\}$ converges strongly on *K*. Since $g_m = \varphi_m$ on *K*, from (3.6), (3.12) ii) and (3.18), we have

$$1 = \|\varphi_m\|_m^2 \leq C_4 \{ \|\bar{\partial}\varphi_m\|_m^2 + \|\bar{\partial}_m^*\varphi_m\|_m^2 \} + (C_4 + 1) \|\varphi_m\|_K^2 \to 0$$

as $m \rightarrow +\infty$. This is a contradiction.

Q.E.D.

Proposition 3.3. If $\psi \in L^{0,p}((X_0, F \otimes K_X) \text{ with } \overline{\partial}\psi = 0 \text{ and } p \ge q-1$, then for any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists an element $\widetilde{\psi}$ of $L^{0,p}(X_1, F \otimes K_X)$ such that $\|\widetilde{\psi}\|_{X_0} - \psi\|_{X_0}^2 < \varepsilon$ and $\overline{\partial}\widetilde{\psi} = 0$.

Proof. It suffices to show that if $u \in L^{0, p}(X_0, F \otimes K_x)$ and

$$(3.19) (f, u)_{X_0} = 0$$

for any $f \in L^{0,p}(X_1, F \otimes K_x)$ with $\overline{\partial} f = 0$, then we have

$$(3.20) (g, u)_{X_0} = 0$$

for $g \in L^{0,p}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$ with $\overline{\partial}g = 0$.

We extend u by setting u = 0 on $X \setminus X_0$. We denote it by u'. Then, from (3.19), u' is orthogonal to $N_{\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}}^{0,p} \subset L^{0,p}(X_1, F \otimes K_X)$. Hence we have $u' \in \overline{R_{\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{m\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}}^{0,p}}$ for any $m \ge 0$. While Proposition 3.1 implies that $R_{\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{m\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}}^{0,p}}$ is closed for every $p \ge q-1$ and $m \ge 0$. Hence from Proposition 1.10 ii) and Proposition 3.2, for any $m \ge m_0$, there exists an element $v_m \in D_{\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}}^{0,p+1}$ such that

(3.21)
$$u' = \bar{\partial}_m^* v_m \text{ and } \|v_m\|_m^2 \leq C_5 \|u\|_{X_0}^2.$$

We set

$$v v_m = e^{-m\lambda(\psi)} v_m$$
 for $m \ge m_0$.

Then we have

Hence $\{w_m\}$ has a subsequence which is weakly convergent to some w in $L^{0,p+1}(X_1, F \otimes K_x)$. From (3.22), we have

(3.23)
$$\vartheta w = u' \text{ and } \operatorname{supp} w \subseteq \overline{X}_0$$
.

By Proposition 1.6 i), we have

$$(3.24) \qquad \qquad \overline{\partial}^*(w|_{X_0}) = u$$

Therefore, if $g \in L^{0,p}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$ with $\overline{\partial}g = 0$, then $(u, g)_{X_0} = (\overline{\partial}^*(w|_{X_0}), g)_{X_0} = (w|_{X_0}, \overline{\partial}g)_{X_0} = 0.$ Q.E.D.

For any real number c with $c > \sup_{x \in K} \varPhi(x)$, we set

$$H^{0,p}(X_c, F \otimes K_x) = N^{0,p}_{\hat{\delta}} / \overline{R^{0,p}_{\hat{\delta}\hat{\delta}}}$$

where $X_c = \{x \in X | \boldsymbol{\Phi}(x) < c\}$ and $L^{0,p}(X_c, F \otimes K_x) \cong \overline{R^{0,p}_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}\tilde{\boldsymbol{\beta}}^*}} \oplus N^{0,p}_c \oplus \overline{R^{0,p}_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}^*\tilde{\boldsymbol{\beta}}^*}}$. If c is a non-critical value of $\boldsymbol{\Phi}$, from (3.10), we have

(3.25)
$$H^{0,p}(X_c, F \otimes K_x) = N^{0,p}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}^*} \cong N^{0,p}_c$$

and

$$\dim H^{0,p}(X_c, F \otimes K_X) < +\infty \quad \text{for} \quad p \geq q.$$

Proposition 3.4. The restriction homomorphism

$$r: H^{0,p}(X_1, F \otimes K_X) \rightarrow H^{0,p}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$$

is an isomorphism for $p \geq q$.

Proof. Step I. The homomorphism $r: H^{0,p}(X_1, F \otimes K_X) \to H^{0,p}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$ is injective.

Take an element f in $L^{0,p}(X_1, F \otimes K_X)$ such that $\overline{\partial} f = 0$ and $f = \overline{\partial} g$ in $L^{0,p}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$ for some $g \in L^{0,p-1}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$. Then f satisfies the relation $(f, h)_{X_0} = 0$ for all $h \in N^{0,p}_{c_0}$. Hence, from Proposition 1.10 i) and Proposition 3.2, there exists an element \tilde{g} in $L^{0,p-1}(X_1, F \otimes K_X)$ such that $\overline{\partial} \tilde{g} = f$ in $L^{0,p}(X_1, F \otimes K_X)$. Step II. The homomorphism $r: H^{0, p}(X_1, F \otimes K_X) \to H^{0, p}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$ is surjective.

From Proposition 3.3, Im r is dense in $H^{0,p}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$. Since r is injective and $H^{0,p}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$ is a finite dimensional vector space in view of (3.25), r is surjective. Q.E.D.

In particular, we obtain the following theorem from (3.25) and Proposition 3.4.

Theorem 3.5. (Compare with Theorem 2.5.) The homomorphism

$$\rho_{c_0}^{c_1} \colon N_{c_1}^{0, p} \to N_{c_0}^{0, p}$$

is an isomorphism $(p \ge q)$.

Theorem 3.6 (Finiteness Theorem). The restriction homomorphism

$$r: H^p(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_X)) \to H^{0, p}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$$

is an isomorphism and so

 $\dim_{\mathbf{C}} H^p(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_X)) < +\infty \quad (p \geq q).$

Proof. By Sard's theorem, we can choose a sequence $\{c_{\nu}\}_{\nu\geq 2}$ of real numbers such that

(3.26) i) $c_2 > c_1$,

- ii) $c_{\nu+1} > c_{\nu}$ and $c_{\nu} \to +\infty$ as $\nu \to +\infty$,
- iii) The boundary $\partial X_{c_{\nu}}$ of $\{x \in X | \emptyset(x) \leq c_{\nu}\}$ is smooth for any $\nu \geq 2$.

We set

$$X_{\nu} = \{x \in X | \boldsymbol{\Phi}(x) < c_{\nu}\} \quad \text{for} \quad \nu \geq 2.$$

For any pair $(c_{\nu+1}, c_{\nu})$ $(\nu \ge 1)$, we can apply Proposition 3.2 and so Proposition 3.3 holds, i.e., if $\nu \ge 0$ and $p \ge q-1$, the restriction homomorphism $(3.27) \quad r_{c_{\nu}}^{e_{\nu+1}} \colon N_{\bar{\delta}_{\nu}}^{0,p} \to N_{\bar{\delta}_{\nu}}^{0,p} \text{ has a dense image with respect to the norm} \\ \|, \|_{x_{\nu}} \text{ where } N_{\bar{\delta}_{\nu}}^{0,p} \subset L^{0,p}(X_{\nu}, F \otimes K_{x}).$

Moreover, from Proposition 3.4, we have the following: if $\nu \ge 0$ and $p \ge q$, the restriction homomorphism

 $(3.28) r_{c_{\nu}}^{c_{\nu+1}}: H^{0,p}(X_{\nu+1}, F \otimes K_{\mathcal{X}}) \to H^{0,p}(X_{\nu}, F \otimes K_{\mathcal{X}})$

is an isomorphism.

Let $L_{loc}^{0,p}(X, F \otimes K_X)$ be the set of the locally square integrable (0, p) forms on X with values in $F \otimes K_X$. Then, there is a natural isomorphism such that for any $p \ge 1$ and open subset Y of X,

 $(3.29) \quad H^{p}(Y, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{X}))$

$$\cong \frac{\{f \in L^{0,p}_{\text{loc}}(Y, F \otimes K_X) | \overline{\partial} f = 0\}}{\{f \in L^{0,p}_{\text{loc}}(Y, F \otimes K_X) | f = \overline{\partial} g \text{ for some } g \in L^{0,p-1}_{\text{loc}}(Y, F \otimes K_X)\}}.$$

After these preparations, we come back to the proof of Theorem 3.6.

Step I. The homomorphism $r: H^{p}(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{x})) \rightarrow H^{0, p}(X_{0}, F \otimes K_{x})$ is injective $(p \geq q)$.

In view of (3.29), it suffices to show that if we take an element $f \in L^{0,p}_{\text{loc}}(X, F \otimes K_X)$ with $\overline{\partial} f = 0$ and $f = \overline{\partial} g_0'$ for some $g_0' \in L^{0,p-1}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$, there exists an element $g \in L^{0,p-1}_{\text{loc}}(X, F \otimes K_X)$ such that $\overline{\partial} g = f$. We set

 $f_{\nu} = f|_{X_{\nu}}$ for every $\nu \ge 0$.

Then from (3.28), there exists $g'_{\nu} \in L^{0, p-1}(X_{\nu}, F \otimes K_{X})$ such that $\overline{\partial}g'_{\nu} = f_{\nu}$ for every $\nu \geq 1$.

Let us show that we can choose, by induction, a sequence $\{g_{\nu}\}_{\nu\geq 0}$ so that

(3.30)
i)
$$g_{\nu} \in L^{0, p-1}(X_{\nu}, F \otimes K_{X}),$$

ii) $\overline{\partial}g_{\nu} = f_{\nu},$
iii) $\|g_{\nu}\|_{X_{\nu-1}} - g_{\nu-1}\|_{X_{\nu-1}}^{2} < \frac{1}{2^{\nu+1}}.$

We set

$$g_{\mathfrak{o}} = g_{\mathfrak{o}}'$$
 .

Suppose $g_0, \dots, g_{\nu-1}$ are chosen. Then $g'_{\nu}|_{x_{\nu-1}} - g_{\nu-1} \in D^{0,p-1}_{\partial} \subset L^{0,p-1}$ $(X_{\nu-1}, F \otimes K_X)$ and $\overline{\partial} (g'_{\nu}|_{x_{\nu-1}} - g_{\nu-1}) = 0$. Therefore, by (3.27) there exists $g'' \in L^{0,p}(X_{\nu}, F \otimes K_X)$ such that $||g'_{\nu}|_{x_{\nu-1}} - g''_{\nu-1} - g''|_{x_{\nu-1}}|^2 \frac{1}{2^{\nu+1}}$ and $\overline{\partial} g'' = 0$. We set $g_{\nu} = g'_{\nu} - g''$. Then it is clear that g_{ν} has the required properties (3.30). Hence we have obtained the sequence $\{g_{\nu}\}_{\nu\geq 0}$. From (3.30), for any ν , $\{g_{\mu}\}_{\mu\geq \nu}$ converges with respect to the norm $||, ||_{x_{\nu}}$, and clearly the limit is the same as the restriction of $\lim_{\mu\geq \eta} g_{\mu}$ for any $\eta \geq \nu+1$. Thus we can define an element g of $L^{0,p-1}_{loc}(X, F \otimes K_X)$ by $g = \lim_{\nu \to +\infty} g_{\nu}$. For every $\nu \geq 1$,

$$\lim_{\mu \ge \nu} g_{\nu} = g \quad \text{in} \quad L^{0, p-1}(X_{\nu}, F \otimes K_{X})$$
$$\lim_{\mu \ge \nu} \overline{\partial} g_{\mu}|_{X_{\nu}} = f_{\nu} \quad \text{in} \quad L^{0, p}(X_{\nu}, F \otimes K_{X}).$$

Since $\overline{\partial}$ is a closed operator in $L^{0, p-1}(X_{\nu}, F \otimes K_X)$ for every $\nu \geq 1$, we have for any $\nu \geq 0$

$$\overline{\partial}g = f_{\nu}$$
 in $L^{0, p}(X_{\nu}, F \otimes K_{X})$.

Hence we have $f = \overline{\partial}g$ in $L^{0, p}_{\text{loc}}(X, F \otimes K_X)$.

Step II. The homomorphism $r: H^p(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_X)) \to H^{0, p}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$ is surjective.

In the first place, we prove the following.

(3.31) The restriction map $r: \{f \in L^{0,p}_{loc}(X, F \otimes K_X) | \overline{\partial} f = 0\} \rightarrow N^{0,p}_{\overline{\partial} 0}$ has a dense image $(p \ge q-1)$.

Take an element $\psi \in N^{0,p}_{\delta o}$. From (3.27), we can choose a sequence $\{\varphi_{\nu}\}_{\nu \geq 0}$ such that for any $\varepsilon > 0$,

(3.32) i)
$$\varphi_0 = \psi$$
,
ii) $\varphi_{\nu} \in N^{0, p}_{\delta_{\nu}}$,
iii) $\|\varphi_{\nu}\|_{X_{\nu-1}} - \varphi_{\nu-1}\|^{2}_{X_{\nu-1}} < \frac{\varepsilon}{2^{\nu}} \quad (\nu \ge 1)$.

By (3.32) iii), for any ν , $\{\varphi_{\nu}\}_{\nu\geq 1}$ converges with respect to the norm $\|, \|_{X_{\nu}}$. Hence, by the same argument as in Step I, we can define an element φ of $L^{0,p}_{\text{loc}}(X, F \otimes K_X)$ with $\overline{\partial}\varphi = 0$. Then it is clear that $\|\varphi\|_{X_0} - \psi\|_{X_0}^2 < \varepsilon$. This completes the proof of (3.31). Next, by (3.29) and (3.31), we see that the image of r is dense in $H^{0,p}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$. Since r is injective and $H^{0,p}(X_0, F \otimes K_X)$ is finite dimensional vector space, r is surjective. Q.E.D.

Theorem 3.7 (Isomorphic Theorem). The restriction homomorphism

$$r: H^{p}(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{X})) \rightarrow H^{p}(X_{c}, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{X}))$$

is an isomorphism for $p \ge q$, where $c > \sup_{x \in K_4} \Phi(x)$.

Proof. We may assume $c > c_0$. Then we have the following factorization:



Since, by Theorem 3.6, the homomorphism r_1 is an isomorphism, r_2 is injective. Similarly since the homomorphism r_3 is an isomorphism, r_2 is surjective. Q.E.D.

Theorem 3.8 (Representation Theorem). There is a natural isomorphism

$$\rho_c: H^p(X_c, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_X)) \rightarrow N_c^{0, p} \text{ for } p \geq q$$

where c is a non-critical value of Φ with $c > \sup_{x \in K_A} \Phi(x)$.

Proof. For any c' with c' > c, from Theorems 3.6 and 3.7, we obtain isomorphisms r_1 and r_2

$$H^{p}(X_{c'}, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{\mathcal{X}}))$$

$$r_{1} \swarrow \rho_{c} \land r_{2}$$

$$H^{p}(X_{c}, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{\mathcal{X}})) \cdots \rightarrow H^{0, p}(X_{c}, F \otimes K_{\mathcal{X}}).$$

We define a morphism $\rho'_c: H^p(X_c, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_X)) \to H^{0,p}(X_c, F \otimes K_X)$ by $\rho'_c = r_2 \circ r_1^{-1}$. It is clear that ρ'_c is well defined and does not depend on the choice of c'. ρ'_c is an isomorphism from $H^p(X_c, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_X))$ to $H^{0,p}(X_c, F \otimes K_X)$. The composition of ρ'_c and an isomorphism $H^{0,p}(X_c, F \otimes K_X) \cong N^{0,p}_c$. $F \otimes K_X) \cong N^{0,p}_c$ gives an isomorphism $\rho_c: H^p(X_c, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_X)) \to N^{0,p}_c$.

Q.E.D.

In particular for q=1, we obtain the following.

Theorem 3.9. Let X be a weakly 1-complete manifold with reaspect to an exhaustion function Φ and let $F \xrightarrow{\pi} X$ be a holomorphic line bundle which is positive on X\K. Then with respect to the hermitian metric $\{a_i\}$ of F corresponding to the assumption and the hermitian metric ds^2 on X induced by the curvature of $\{a_i\}$, it holds that, for any two non-critical value c and c' with $c' > c > \sup_{x \in K} \Phi(x)$ and $p \ge 1$,

- 1) $L^{0,p}(X_c, F \otimes K_x) \cong R^{0,p}_{\delta \delta^*} \oplus N^{0,p}_c \oplus R^{0,p}_{\delta \star \delta} \text{ and } \dim_{\mathcal{C}} N^{0,p}_c + \infty,$
- 2) the homomorphism $\rho_c^{c'}: N_c^{0,p} \to N_c^{0,p}$ is isomorphic,
- 3) dim_c $H^p(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_X)) < +\infty$,
- 4) the restriction homomorphism

$$r: H^{p}(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{X})) \to H^{p}(X_{c}, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{X}))$$

is isomorphic,

5) there is an isomorphism

$$\rho_{\mathbf{c}}: H^p(X_{\mathbf{c}}, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{\mathbf{X}})) \to N^{0, p}_{\mathbf{c}}.$$

Remark 3.2. In Theorem 3.9, 3) and 4) were proved by T. Ohsawa in [34]. He reduced these problems to the $\overline{\partial}$ -operator theory without boundary conditions.

§ 3. 3. Vanishing Theorems

Theorem 3.10. Let X be a connected weakly 1-complete Kähler manifold and let $F \xrightarrow{\pi} X$ be a holomorphic line bundle on X which is q-semi-positive on X and q-positive on X\K with respect to the given KENSHO TAKEGOSHI

Kähler metric, where K is aproper compact subset. Then $H^{p}(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{X})) = 0$ for $p \geq q$.

Proof. For a suitable non-critical value c of the exhaustion function $\boldsymbol{\emptyset}$ on X, we obtain, from Theorems 3.7 and 3.8, the isomorphism $H^p(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_X)) \cong N_c^{0,p}$ for $p \ge q$. But, from the assumption, $N_c^{0,p}$ is the null space (see the proof of Proposition 1.11 II)). This completes the proof.

Remark 3.3. Any connected compact complex manifold is weakly 1-complete, any real constant function being an exhaustion function. Therefore we obtain the following.

Let X be a connected compact complex Kähler manifold and let $F \xrightarrow{\pi} X$ be q-semi-positive on X and q-positive at least one point of X with respect to the given Kähler metric. Then

$$H^{p}(X, \mathcal{O}(F \otimes K_{X})) = 0 \quad for \quad p \geq q.$$

Remark 3.4. With respect to the difference between weakly 1completeness and pseudoconvexity, Diedrich and Fornaess showed that there are domains with pseudoconvex boundaries \mathcal{Q} on \mathbb{C}^n such that $\overline{\mathcal{Q}}$ does not have a Stein neighborhood basis (see [48]). In this situation, if the defining function \mathcal{O} of \mathcal{Q} is plurisubharmonic on a neighborhood W of $\partial \mathcal{Q}$, domains $\{\mathcal{Q}_r = \mathcal{Q} \cup \{x \in W | \mathcal{O}(x) < r\}\}_{r>0}$ ($\partial \mathcal{Q} = \{x \in W | \mathcal{O}(x)$ $= 0\}$) consist of a Stein basis of $\overline{\mathcal{Q}}$ since any domain with pseudoconvex boundary on \mathbb{C}^n is Stein.

Note added. As mentioned in Remark 2.3, in the situation of Chapters II and III, the local boundary regularity does not always hold. But recently the author has shown that the global boundary regularity holds in the following sense if according to the degree of the required boundary regularity, we take the tensor product of the line bundle F, which is positive on a neighborhood of ∂X , sufficiently many times, we can solve the $L^2 - \bar{\partial}$ -Neumann problem satisfying the required boundary regularity. As a consequence of this regularization theorem, $H^p(X_c, \mathcal{O}(F^{\otimes m} \otimes K_X))$ can be represented by the space of harmonic forms being C^k -class $(0 \leq k < \infty)$ up to ∂X_c if m is large enough. See a forthcoming paper "Global regularity and spectra of Laplace-Beltrami operators on pseudoconvex domains".

References

- Abdelkader, O., Vanishing of the cohomology of a weakly 1-complete Kähler manifold with value in a semi-positive vector bundle, C. R. Acad. Sci., Paris, 290 (1980), 75-78.
- [2] Andreotti, A. and Grauert, H., Théorème de finitude pour la cohomologie des espaces complexes, *Bull. Soc. Math. France*, **90** (1962), 193-259.
- [3] Andreotti, A. and Vesentini, E., Sopra un teorema di Kodaira, Ann. Sc. Norm. Sup. Pisa, (3), 15 (1961), 283-309.
- [4] Andreotti, A. and Vesentini, E., Les théorèmes fundamentaux de la théorie des espaces holomorphiquement complets, Séminaire Ehresmann, 4 (1962-63), 1-31, Paris, Secrétariat Mathématique.
- [5] Andreotti, A. and Vesentini, E., Carleman estimates for the Laplace-Beltrami equation on complex manifolds, *Publ. Math. IHES*, No. 25 (1965), 81-130.
- [6] Andreotti, A. and Vesentini, E., Erratum to Carleman estimates for the Laplace-Beltrami equation on complex manifolds, Publ. Math. IHES, (1965), 153-155.
- [7] Aronszajn, N., A unique continuation theorem for solutions of elliptic partial differential equations or inequalities of second order, J. Math. Pures Appl., 36 (1957), 235-249.
- [8] Ellencwajg, G., Pseudoconvexité locale dans les vaiétés Kählériennes, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 25 (1975), 295-314.
- [9] Folland, G. B. and Kohn, J. J., The Neumann problem for the Cauchy-Riemann complex, Ann. of Math. Studies, No. 75, P. U. Press, 1972.
- [10] Friedrichs, K., The identity of weak and strong extensions of differential operators, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 55 (1944), 132–151.
- [11] Fujiki, A. and Nakano, S., Supplement to "On the inverse of monoidal transformation", Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ., 7 (1971-72), 637-644.
- [12] Fujiki, A., On the blowing down of analytic spaces, Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ., 10 (1975), 473-507.
- [13] Grauert, H. and Riemenschneider, O., Kählersche Manning-faltigkeiten mit hyper-qkonvexem Rand, Proc. in Analysis (Lectures Sympos. in Honor of S. Bochner, 1969), Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N. J., 1970, 61-79.
- [14] Griffiths, P. A., The extension problem in complex analysis. II: Embeddings with positive normal bundle, Amer. J. Math., 88 (1966), 366-446.
- [15] Gunning, R. C. and Rossi, H., Analytic functions of several complex variables, Englewood Cliffs, N. J., Prentice Hall Inc., 1965.
- [16] Hörmander, L., Weak and strong extensions of differential operators, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 14 (1961), 371-379.
- [17] Hörmander, L., L² estimates and existence theorems for the ∂ operator, Acta Math., 113 (1965), 89–152.
- [18] Hörmander, L., An introduction to complex analysis in several variables, Van Nostrand, Princeton, 1966.
- [19] Kodaira, K., On cohomology groups of some compact analytic faisceaux, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 39 (1953), 1269–1273.
- [20] Kodaira, K., On a differential geometric method in the theory of analytic stacks, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 39 (1953), 1268-1273.
- [21] Kodaira, K. and Morrow, J., Complex manifolds, Holt, Rinehart and Winston, New York, 1971.
- [22] Kohn, J. J., Harmonic integrals on strongly pseudoconvex manifolds I, Ann. Math.,
 (2), 78 (1963), 112-148.
- [23] Kohn, J. J., Regularity at the boundary of the o-Neumann problem, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 49 (1963), 206-213.

KENSHO TAKEGOSHI

- [24] Kohn, J. J., Harmonic integrals on strongly pseudoconvex manifolds II, Ann. Math.,
 (2), 79 (1964), 450-472.
- [25] Kohn, J. J., Propagation of singularities for the Cauchy-Riemann equations, C.I.M.E. Conf. Complex Analysis (1973), Edizioni Cremonese, Rome, 1974, 179-280.
- [26] Kohn, J. J., Methods of partial differential equations in complex analysis, Proc. of Symp. in Pure Math., 30, part I (1977), 215-237.
- [27] Kohn, J. J., Subellipticity of the $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem on pseudoconvex domains: sufficient conditions, *Acta Math.*, **142** (1979), 79–122.
- [28] Kohn, J. J. and Nirenberg, L., Non-coercive boundary value problems, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 18 (1965), 443-492.
- [29] Kohn, J. J. and Rossi, H., On the extension of holomorphic functions from the boundary of a complex manifold, Ann. Math., (2), 81 (1965), 451-472.
- [30] Lax, P. D. and Phillips, R. S., Local boundary conditions for dissipative symmetric linear differential operators. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 13 (1960), 427-455.
- [31] Nakano, S., On the inverse of monoidal transformation, Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ.,
 6 (1970-71), 483-502.
- [32] Nakano, S., Vanishing theorems for weakly 1-complete manifolds, "Number theory, commutative algebra and algebraic geometry, papers in honor of Professor Yasuo Akizuki", Kinokuniya, (1973), 169–179.
- [33] Nakano, S., Vanishing theorems for weakly 1-complete manifolds, II, Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ., 10 (1974), 101-110.
- [34] Ohsawa, T., Finiteness theorem on weakly 1-complete manifolds, Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ., 15 (1979), 857-870.
- [35] Ohsawa. T., On H^{p,q}(X, B) of weakly 1-complete manifolds, Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ., 17 (1981), 113-126.
- [36] Ohsawa, T., On complete Kähler domain with C¹-boundary, Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ., 16 (1980), 929-940.
- [37] Ohsawa, T., Isomorphism theorems for cohomology groups of weakly 1-complete manifolds, *Publ. RIMS*, Kyoto Univ., 18 (1982), 91-232.
- [38] Riemenschneider, O., Characterizing Moisezon spaces by almost positive coherent analytic sheaves, *Math. Zeit.*, 123 (1971), 263-284.
- [39] Siu, Y. T., Pseudoconvexity and the problem of Levi, Bull. Amer. Math., 84 (1978), 481-512.
- [40] Skoda, H., Morphismes surjectifs de fibrés vectoriels semi-positifs, Ann. Scient. Ec. Norm. Sup., 4º série, 11 (1978), 577-611.
- [41] Skoda, H., Relèvement des sections globales dans les fibrés semi-positifs, Lecture notes in math. 822, Seminaire P. Lelong, H. Skoda. (Analyse) 18^e et 19^e annee, 1978– 79.
- [42] Skoda, H., Remarques a propos les fibrés semi-positifs, Lecture notes in math. 822 Seminaire P. Lelong, H. Skoda. (Analyse) 18° et 19° annee, 1978-79.
- [43] Takegoshi, K., A generalization of vanishing theorems on weakly 1-complete manifolds, *Publ. RIMS*, *Kyoto Univ.*, 17 (1981), 311–330.
- [44] Takegoshi, K. and Ohsawa, T., A vanishing theorem for H^p(X, Q^q(B)) on weakly 1-complete manifolds, Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ., 17 (1981), 723-733.
- [45] Vesentini, E., Lectures on Levi convexity of complex manifolds and cohomology vanishing theorems, Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Bombay, 1967.
- [46] Weidmann, J., Linear operators in Hilbert spaces, Springer Verlag.
- [47] Diedrich, K. and Pflug, P., Über Gebiete mit vollstädiger Kählermetrik, Math. Ann., 257 (1981), 191-198.
- [48] Diedrich, K. and Fornaess, E., Pseudoconvex domains: An example with nontrivial Nebenhülle, Math. Ann., 225 (1977), 275-292.
- [49] Grauert, H., Charakterisierung der Holomorphiegebiete durch die vollständige Kählersche Metrik, Math. Ann., 131 (1956), 38-75.